

07/15/2021 2081-02 21-MED-03-0368 40571 \*\*Revised\*\*

# **MASTER AGREEMENT**

# **BETWEEN**

# THE FREMONT BOARD OF EDUCATION

# **AND THE**

# OHIO ASSOCIATION OF PUBLIC SCHOOL EMPLOYEES, AFSCME/AFL-CIO

**LOCAL #321** 



**JULY 1, 2021 - JUNE 30, 2024** 

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
PREAMBLE	1
ARTICLE 1 – RECOGNITION AND DEFINITIONS	1
ARTICLE 2 – NEGOTIATIONS PROCEDURE	2
2.1 Directing Requests	2
2.2 Negotiation Meetings	
2.3 Assistance	
2.4 Study Committees	3
2.5 Exchange of Information	3
2.6 OAPSE Assurance	3
2.7 Agreement	3
2.8 Impasse	4
2.9 Costs	4
ARTICLE 3 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	4
3.1 Purpose	4
3.2 Definitions	4
3.3 General Provisions	5
3.4 Procedure	5
ARTICLE 4 – NON-DISCRIMINATION	7
ARTICLE 5 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	7
ARTICLE 6 – UNION RIGHTS	7
6.1 Organizational Rights and Union Representation	7
6.2 Union Roster	
6.3 Bulletin Boards	8
6.4 Telephone Use by Union	8
6.5 Workplace Entry	
6.6 Labor Management Committee	
6.7 Release Time	8
6.8 Meetings - OAPSE (Local-Annual)	
6.9 Dues Deduction	9
ARTICLE 7 – SAFETY	9
ARTICLE 8 – DISCIPLINE	9
ARTICLE 9 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD	10

ARTICLE 10 – SENIORITY	10
ARTICLE 11 – VACANCY NOTICE AND BID PROCEDURE	11
ARTICLE 12 – REDUCTION AND LAYOFFS	13
12.1 Reduction in Hours	13
12.2 Layoff	14
12.3 Bumping Procedure	
12.4 Recall Rights for Laid Off Employees	
ARTICLE 13 – TRANSPORTATION	15
13.1 Bus Driver/Operator Responsibilities	
13.2 Bidding for Routes/Runs	16
13.3 Absentee Coverage for Midday Runs	16
13.4 Regular Trips/Late Trips	16
13.5 Trip Minimum Pay	
13.6 Driver Minimum Pay	
13.7 Fleet Mechanics	
13.8 Definitions and Terms	
13.9 Rules for Exchanging Routes Between Drivers	
13.10 Route Updates	
13.11 Substitute Work	
ARTICLE 14 – WORKING CONDITIONS	21
14.1 Calamity Days/Delays/Early Dismissal Procedures	21
14.2 Excessive Tardiness or Absenteeism	
14.3 Working Hours	22
14.4 Workweek	22
14.5 Medication	22
14.6 Work Rules	23
14.7 Personnel Files	
14.8 Lunch Periods – Breaks	
14.9 Mandatory Meetings	
14.10 Calendar Adjustment	
14.11 Resignation - Required by Employee	
14.12 Principal's Duties	
ARTICLE 15 – VACATION, HOLIDAYS, AND LEAVES	24
15.1 Vacation	24
15.2 Vacation - Unused Leave to the Surviving Spouse	25
15.3 Vacation – Unused to Employee Terminating Service	
15.4 Paid Holidays	
15.5 Sick Leave Policy	
15.6 Sick Leave Use	

15.7 Personal Business Leave	28
15.8 Leave of Absence – Definition	29
15.9 Personal Illness/Illness in the Immediate Family	29
15.10 Bereavement Leave	30
15.11 Assault Leave	31
15.12 Leave of Absence – Maternity	31
15.13 Jury Duty	32
15.14 Court Appearance as Witness	32
15.15 Absence – Employee Responsible for Reporting	32
15.16 Absence – Authorized – Time Off Unpaid	33
15.17 Absence – Due to Emergency	33
15.18 Absence – Unauthorized	33
15.19 Leave of Absence – Military Duty	33
15.20 Workers' Compensation	34
15.21 Transitional Work Assignment	35
15.22 Leave of Absence – Miscellaneous	35
ARTICLE 16 – FRINGE BENEFITS	36
16.1 H-1d	26
16.1 Health and Wellness Program	
16.2 Insurance Section 125 Plan	
16.3 Medical, Dental and Vision Insurance	
16.4 Group Life Insurance	
16.5 Retirement Benefits	
16.6 Maintenance Employee Uniforms	
10.7 Criminal Background Checks	, <del>44</del>
ARTICLE 17 – COMPENSATION	44
17.1 Pay Schedule	$\Delta\Delta$
17.2 Placement on Pay Schedule	
17.3 Longevity Step	
17.4 Overtime	
17.5 Minimum Pay for Off-Duty Call-In	
17.6 Paycheck	
17.7 Building Usage	
17.8 Maintenance Certifications	
17.9 Associate's Degree	
ARTICLE 18 – IN-SERVICE TRAINING, MEETINGS AND WORKSHOPS	46
18.1 Meetings-Workshops-Reimbursement	
18.2 In-Service Training	48
ARTICLE 19 – CAFETERIA	49
ARTICLE 20 CUSTODIANS	10

ARTICLE 21 – ALCOHOL AND DRUG TESTING PROGRAM	50
ARTICLE 22 – CONTRARY TO LAW	51
ARTICLE 23 – COMPLETE AGREEMENT	51
ARTICLE 24 – DURATION	52
APPENDIX A – SALARY SCHEDULES	53
APPENDIX B – OAPSE GRIEVANCE FORM	57
APPENDIX C – BID SHEET	59

#### **PREAMBLE**

The Board of Education of Fremont City and OAPSE Local #321, chartered by The Ohio Association of Public School Employees/AFSCME/AFL-CIO, do hereby agree that the welfare of the children of Fremont City is paramount in the operation of the schools and will be promoted by both parties. The parties do hereby agree as follows:

#### **ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION AND DEFINITIONS**

- 1.1 The Fremont City School District Board of Education, hereinafter referred to as the Employer, recognizes The Ohio Association of Public School Employees/AFSCME/ AFL-CIO and its Local #321, hereinafter referred to as the Union, as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative for all hourly employees including the following classifications and/or similar classifications:
  - A. Custodial Employees
  - B. Cafeteria Employees
  - C. Maintenance Employees
  - D. Transportation Employees
  - E. Shipping and Receiving Employees
  - F. Aides
  - G. Administrative and Clerical Employees (except as excluded below)
  - H. Student Monitors
  - I. Groundskeeper Employees
- 1.2 The following are specifically excluded from the Bargaining Unit:
  - A. Assistant to Superintendent
  - B. Assistant to Director of Human Resources and Community Relations
  - C. Assistant to Treasurer
  - D. Classified Payroll/Benefits Coordinator
  - E. Child Nutrition Supervisor
  - F. Director of Facilities and Operations
  - G. Technology Coordinator
  - H. Transportation Manager
  - I. EMIS Coordinator
  - J. School/Parent Liaison
  - K. Accounts Payable Coordinator
  - L. Assistant Treasurer
  - M. Substitutes
  - N. Confidential as defined by O.R.C. 4117.01
- 1.3 In the event that any new position(s) are created during the term of this Agreement which the Union contends should be included in the bargaining unit classifications described in Section 1.1 above, the parties will attempt to resolve the question of the bargaining unit status of the new position(s) before resorting to other legal remedies (inclusive of arbitration and those arising under Chapter 4117 of the O.R.C.). Should the parties agree

that the new position(s) belong in the bargaining unit, the wage rate for the position shall be negotiated and the position(s) will be posted in accordance with Article 11 of this Agreement.

# 1.4 <u>Definitions</u>

- A. <u>Agreement</u> This Negotiated Agreement between the Board and the Union.
- B. <u>Board or Board of Education</u> The Fremont City School District acting in its official capacity.
- C. <u>Day</u> A calendar day, unless otherwise indicated.
- D. District Fremont City School District.
- E. Employee A member of the bargaining unit.
- F. <u>Employer</u> Board members, administrators, agents and all others acting on the Board's behalf as directed by the Board of Education.
- G. Local Local #321.
- H. <u>Local Union Representative</u> Local officers/building steward.
- I. OAPSE Representative OAPSE/AFSCME staff representative.
- J. O.R.C. The Ohio Revised Code.
- K. <u>Pre-trip Inspection</u> Is defined in Section 3301-83-11 of the Ohio Pupil Transportation Operation and Safety Rules, and by the pre-trip form.
- L. <u>Superintendent</u> Superintendent or designee.
- M. Union OAPSE/AFSCME Local #4 and its Local #321.
- N. Workday A weekday, except for contractually recognized holidays.
- O. Unless otherwise specified, the use of the singular form shall include the plural and the use of the masculine gender shall include the feminine, and vice versa.

#### **ARTICLE 2 - NEGOTIATIONS PROCEDURE**

# 2.1 <u>Directing Requests</u>

Written requests to initiate negotiations shall be made to the Superintendent or to the Local President, respectively. Such requests may only be submitted during the period of sixty (60) to one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement. A mutually convenient meeting date shall be set within fifteen (15) days of the date of the request.

# 2.2 <u>Negotiation Meetings</u>

Employees on the bargaining committee shall be released from school duties to attend meetings held during the workday. However, negotiation meetings should be called after working hours whenever possible. Each negotiations team size shall be limited to no more than six (6) members, including one (1) non-employee representative.

# 2.3 Assistance

The parties may call upon consultants to consider matters under discussion and to make suggestions.

# 2.4 Study Committees

The parties may appoint ad hoc study committees to research, study and develop reports, and to make recommendations on matters under consideration. The committees shall report findings to the parties.

# 2.5 Exchange of Information

The Employer agrees to furnish the Union, upon reasonable request, all public records concerning financial resources of the District.

# 2.6 OAPSE Assurance

The Local President or his/her Representative shall first fulfill his/her duty to the Employer before performing whatever other duty he/she might assume as the Union Representative.

# 2.7 Agreement

- A. When an agreement is reached, it shall be reduced to writing and, when approved by the Union and the Board, it shall be signed by the parties and become a part of the official Minutes of the Board. Upon ratification and adoption of a successor Agreement, the Employer shall distribute copies of the Agreement to employees.
- B. When necessary, provisions in the Agreement shall be reflected in individual contracts. The Agreement shall not discriminate against any employees regardless of membership or non-membership in the Union.
- C. The Union shall print sufficient copies for the Employer and all current and future employees. The Employer and Union shall share equally in the cost of printing the Agreement. If an employee requests a printed copy, then the Board will supply a copy, also the Collective Bargaining Agreement will be on the school website.

# 2.8 Impasse

- A. In the event an agreement is not reached by negotiations, either party may declare an impasse.
- B. Following a declaration of impasse, either party may request that the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) provide a mediator to assist the parties with the negotiations.
- C. The mediator shall have the authority to schedule negotiation meetings for the purpose of promoting an agreement between the parties.
- D. The mediator has no authority to bind either party to any agreement.

# 2.9 Costs

Costs and expenses which may be incurred in securing and utilizing the services of any mediator or third-party consultant, if mutually agreed upon by the parties, shall be shared equally by the Board and the Union. Otherwise, each party will be responsible for any costs or expenses that it individually incurs.

#### **ARTICLE 3 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

# 3.1 <u>Purpose</u>

The primary purpose of this procedure shall be to obtain at the lowest level and in the shortest period of time, equitable solutions to grievances that may arise from time to time.

# 3.2 Definitions

- A. A <u>grievance</u> is a claim by an employee(s), or the Union, that there has been a violation, misapplication or misinterpretation of one or more specific provisions of this Agreement. In the event the grievance affects a group of employees, the Union may file the grievance on behalf of the group.
- B. A <u>grievant</u> is an employee(s) or the Union who files a grievance. The Union shall designate one (1) building steward for processing grievances in each school building.
- C. <u>Immediate Supervisors</u>, for purposes of this Article, are the following:
  - 1. Child Nutrition Supervisor
  - 2. Director of Facilities and Operations
  - 3. Transportation Manager
  - 4. Building Principals
  - 5. Directors (for Central Office personnel)

# 3.3 General Provisions

- A. <u>Time Limits</u>: Stipulated time limits are considered maximums to ensure rapid resolution to problems and grievances. Extensions must be mutually agreed to by both parties in writing. Failure of the Employer to adhere to the time limits, without mutual agreement, shall automatically advance the grievance to the next step of the grievance procedure. Failure of the grievant or the Union to adhere to the time limits, without mutual agreement, will result in a nullification of the grievance.
- B. Representation: A grievant(s) is entitled to have a building steward or designee present at grievance meetings. The Local President or designee shall be present at steps II, III and IV. The OAPSE Representative or designee shall be present at steps III and IV.
- C. <u>Validation</u>: At each step of the grievance procedure the appropriate section of the grievance form must be signed and dated by the Immediate Supervisor or Administrator in order to be considered valid.
- D. <u>Written Decisions</u>: All decisions rendered shall be in writing and promptly conveyed to the grievant(s), building steward and Local President.
- E. <u>Reprisals</u>: No reprisals of any kind shall be taken by the Employer or any of its agents against any grievant, any representative, any employee or any other participant in the grievance procedure by reason of such participation. Similarly, no reprisals of any kind shall be taken by the grievant or the representative or the Union against the Employer or any of its agents.
- F. <u>Grievance Forms</u>: Grievances shall be filed on the authorized grievance form agreed to by both parties and attached to this Agreement as Appendix B. The grievance form must identify the specific Article(s) and Section(s) of the Agreement that was allegedly violated, state all relevant facts and circumstances, and indicate the relief requested.
- G. <u>Class Action and Discipline</u>: Grievances that affect a group of employees or involve disciplinary suspension or discharge shall be initiated at Step II of the grievance procedure.

#### 3.4 Procedure

#### (Step I) - Immediate Supervisor

The grievance form must be filed within ten (10) workdays after the grievant(s) or Union could reasonably be expected to have knowledge of the occurrence of the alleged grievance. The grievant shall request a meeting with the Immediate Supervisor. The Immediate Supervisor shall schedule and hold a meeting with the grievant and building steward within five (5) workdays of the request. The meeting will be conducted at the grievant's work location. Parties will discuss and attempt to reach a resolution. The

Immediate Supervisor shall provide a written decision within ten (10) workdays of the meeting.

# (Step II) - Director of Human Resources and Community Relations

If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Step I he/she may appeal in writing to the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations within five (5) workdays of receipt of the Step I response. The Director of Human Resources and Community Relations shall schedule and hold a meeting with the grievant(s), building steward and Local President (or designees) within five (5) workdays of receipt of the appealed grievance. Parties will discuss and attempt to reach a resolution. The Director of Human Resources and Community Relations shall provide a written decision within ten (10) workdays of the meeting.

# (Step III) - FMCS Mediation

If the Union and the grievant are not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Step II, the Union may appeal to FMCS mediation by filing a request with the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations within ten (10) workdays of receipt of the Step II response. The parties shall first attempt to mutually agree on a mediator. If unable to do so, the parties shall request for FMCS to appoint a mediator. The parties shall conduct grievance mediation in accordance with FMCS rules.

# (Step IV) - Binding Arbitration

If the Union is not satisfied with the results of the mediation at Step III, the Union may appeal to binding arbitration. The Union's request for arbitration shall be made within thirty (30) workdays following the conclusion of mediation, and sent to the Superintendent by certified mail.

- 1. The parties may mutually petition the FMCS to provide both parties with a list or lists of names from which an arbitrator will be selected and notified in accordance with the rules of the FMCS.
- 2. Once the arbitrator has been selected, he/she shall conduct a hearing on the grievance in accordance with the advisory rules and regulations of the FMCS.
- 3. The decision shall be in writing and a copy sent to both parties. The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding.
- 4. The arbitrator shall not have the authority to add to, subtract, modify, change, or alter any of the provisions of this Agreement, nor add to, detract from, or modify the language therein in arriving at this decision concerning any issue presented that is proper within the limitations expressed herein. The arbitrator shall expressly confine himself/herself to the precise issue(s) submitted for arbitration and shall have no authority to decide any other issue(s) not so submitted to him/her or to

- submit observations or declarations of opinion which are not directly essential in reaching his/her decision.
- 5. The arbitrator shall in no way interfere with management prerogatives involving the Board's discretion, nor limit or interfere in any way with the powers, duties and responsibilities of the Board under its policies, applicable law, and rules and regulations having the force and effect of law.
- 6. The cost of the arbitrator and the services of the FMCS shall be borne by the losing party. However, in the event the arbitrator renders a decision in which neither party is clearly identified as the loser, the arbitrator shall identify the primarily prevailing party, and the other party shall pay the costs of the arbitration.
- 7. Any other expenses resulting from the arbitration shall be borne by the party incurring them and neither party shall be responsible for the expenses of the other party's witnesses except where it is agreed that such hearing is during a witness' regular hours of employment.

#### **ARTICLE 4 - NON-DISCRIMINATION**

4.1 The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees without discrimination as to age, sex, marital status, race, color, creed, national origin, job classification, political opinions or affiliation.

#### **ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

5.1 Except as limited by the terms of this Agreement, the Employer has the authority to exercise at all times the management and direction, in behalf of the public, of all of the operations and activities of the District to the full extent authorized by law.

### **ARTICLE 6 - UNION RIGHTS**

6.1 Organizational Rights and Union Representation

The Union, as the exclusive Representative of this bargaining unit, shall have the following rights:

- A. To use the facilities of any building for meetings, without fee, upon notification of the Administrator in charge of such building. Permission to use such facilities shall be given as long as it does not interfere with any previously authorized activity in said building. The Union shall be responsible for any additional custodial cost involved in the use of the building (e.g., cleanup, overtime).
- B. To use Board-owned equipment at times which do not interfere with the operation of the school system. Building administrator shall be notified prior to the use of Board-owned equipment.

- C. The Local shall have the right during the public participation section of the Board meeting to comment on items of concern.
- 6.2 The Local shall provide to the Employer an official roster of its officers and building stewards which is to be kept current at all times and to include the following:
  - A. Name
  - B. Address
  - C. Home telephone number
  - D. Building/Classification
  - E. Immediate Supervisor
  - F. Union office held
- 6.3 To use bulletin boards in employee lounges or work areas to disseminate information.
- To use telephones in any building to carry out Union business. Any fees or toll call charges shall be reimbursed to the Employer by the Union.
- 6.5 Union representatives may enter the workplace upon prior notice to the Employer as long as they are not interfering with the work of employees.

# 6.6 <u>Labor Management Committee</u>

- A. A Labor Management Committee shall be established on an annual basis by the Superintendent and the Local President. Membership of the committee shall consist of one to three representatives for each party. The Local President and the Superintendent shall each appoint their respective representatives.
- B. The Local may provide representative(s) to Ad Hoc committees, as designated by the Employer, which affect or involve employees.

# 6.7 Release Time

The Local President or his/her designee shall be granted release time for representation that is required by the Employer at grievance, mediation, arbitration, and disciplinary hearings held during his/her regular workday.

# 6.8 Meetings - OAPSE (Local-Annual)

- A. The annual meeting of the Northwest Ohio Association of Public School Employees is held each Fall. Officers may attend the annual meeting. This is considered a regular workday with pay for those officers that actually attend the meeting.
- B. Local Meetings custodial employees will be allowed to attend Local meetings as long as building needs are covered, as determined by the Employer, and work is completed.

# 6.9 Dues Deduction

- A. The Board agrees to deduct union dues for every employee who authorizes the Board to do so in writing, and to remit the dues to the State Union Treasurer monthly together with a list showing the names of the employees and the amount deducted.
- B. Deductions for union dues shall be made in sixteen (16) consecutive pay periods beginning with the first pay in October.
- C. Enrollment for dues deductions shall be made upon submission of a signed authorization to the Treasurer. Dues deduction authorizations may be revoked per the employee's Membership Application/Dues Deduction authorization card.
- D. The Employer agrees not to honor any dues deduction authorizations executed in favor of any other labor organization.
  - 1. Deduction of yearly dues and fees may be authorized for payroll deduction to the Treasurer by the employee in writing for the following items:
    - a. Union Dues (deductions will be made October-May)
    - b. Health Insurance
    - c. Annuities With at least five participants as long as the payroll system can accommodate this process.
    - d. PEOPLE deductions
  - 2. Regular prescribed deductions will be made for all applicable income tax deductions.

#### **ARTICLE 7 - SAFETY**

# 7.1 <u>District Compliance</u>

- A. It is the intent of the Employer to provide an atmosphere that is healthy, safe, and sanitary for all students, employees, and the public. The Local President shall direct concerns about safety, health, and sanitation to the Superintendent or appropriate administrator. Nothing herein shall be construed as limiting the right of an employee to notify his/her supervisor of any concern involving safety, health, and sanitation.
- B. No employee shall be in any way discriminated against as a result of reporting any condition regarding safety, health and sanitation.

#### **ARTICLE 8 - DISCIPLINE**

8.1 Employees shall not be discharged, suspended, or disciplined without just cause and compliance with section 8.2 below.

- 8.2 Based upon the severity of the situation, disciplinary action may follow the steps outlined below. However, discipline may be initiated at any step of this scheme depending upon the severity of the misconduct, at the discretion of the Board.
  - A. Verbal Warning First Offense
  - B. Written Warning Second Offense
  - C. Suspensions of one-three days Third Offense
  - D. Five Day Suspension Fourth Offense
  - E. Discharge Fifth Offense
- 8.3 Verbal or written warnings shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
- 8.4 The Board will maintain a written record of all formal disciplinary actions in the employee's personnel file. The employee and the Local President will receive copies of any formal disciplinary actions before being placed in the employee's personnel file.
- 8.5 After three (3) years from the date that the formal disciplinary action was issued, it shall cease to have an effect on any future disciplinary action if no intervening disciplinary action for a similar offense has occurred during this period.
- 8.6 A representative of the Union shall be present for any disciplinary actions and/or proceedings, if requested by the employee.

#### **ARTICLE 9 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD**

9.1 There shall be a ninety (90) workday probationary period for all newly hired employees. Newly hired employees may be terminated from employment for any reason during the probationary period and such termination is not subject to grievance procedures set forth in the Agreement. Upon satisfactory completion of said probationary period, the employee(s) shall be governed and covered by all provisions of this Agreement. The Employer has the discretion to end an employee's probationary period prior to the completion of the ninety (90) workdays. The Board will notify the Union of new employees who are hired.

#### **ARTICLE 10 - SENIORITY**

- 10.1 Seniority shall be defined as an employee's uninterrupted length of continuous service as a bargaining unit member. Each employee's seniority date shall be computed from his/her first workday on the job as a bargaining unit member. Substitute employees shall not accumulate seniority and are not subject to any of the terms of this Agreement.
- 10.2 Within thirty (30) days of the beginning of each school year, and also on January 1 of each new year, updated seniority lists shall be posted on the District's intranet. A copy of each list shall be provided to the Local President. Each employee shall notify the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations of any inaccuracies of his/her seniority.
  - A. One list shall provide the seniority date for all employees in order of seniority.

- B. A second seniority list shall be broken down by classification, using the classification/numbering system contained in Appendix A.
- 10.3 When more than one employee has the same seniority date, the following procedure shall be employed to determine who is the most senior employee:
  - A. Length of time the employee was a substitute for the District prior to becoming a bargaining unit employee.
  - B. If A is not applicable, the employee whose birthday occurs first in the calendar year shall be the tiebreaker.

# ARTICLE 11 - VACANCY NOTICE AND BID PROCEDURE

- A job notice shall be posted within five (5) days after the Employer determines to fill a 11.1 vacant position or create a new position. The job notice shall contain the start time and the number of hours per day for the position. If the start time is changed by more than one (1) hour from the time originally posted, the Employer will post the job as a new position. This provision shall not apply to spring, winter or summer breaks. The Employer shall use District email to notify employees of new postings during school breaks and post job notices on the District's website. During the summer all job notices will be posted on the District's website. The Employer shall post all job notices for a minimum of five (5) workdays. No employee will be awarded more than three (3) bids in any twelve month period from July 1 through June 30 (excluding summer work). If an employee has bid on more than one position at a time, is selected for one position, and turns it down in order to be eligible for another currently open position, that selection will not be counted as an "award" for purposes of the previous sentence. Any school calendar position vacated or created within fifteen (15) workdays prior to the end of the school year will be posted on or after the following August 15<sup>th</sup>.
- When a vacancy exists in the A-27.01 Custodial II or A-27.02B Custodial III classifications the job notice will be posted as a Custodial II/III position pursuant to this Article. The position will be awarded to the most senior employee who signed the bid sheet and is currently employed in either a Custodial II or Custodial III position. This procedure will be followed until all those employees who are employed in the A-27.02B Custodial III Classification as of June 30, 2011 have retired, resigned, or otherwise vacated their A-27.02B Custodial III position, at which time the Custodial III Classification will be eliminated. No new employees will be appointed to the A-27.02B Custodial III Classification after June 30, 2011.
- 11.3 Employees who have completed their initial probationary period with the District may apply for any position within the time limit set forth on the posting. Employees on an extended leave of absence (twenty (20) or more workdays) are not eligible to bid on vacancies. Employees will be allowed a minimum of five (5) workdays from the date of the initial posting to apply for the position by signing the "bid sheet" (See Appendix C), which will be available at the District Office in a binder at the Reception Desk. Employees bidding on more than one position at any given time, must state their preference on the bid

sheet. A copy of the bid sheet will be provided to the Local President after the expiration of the job posting period. Absent extenuating circumstances, no substitute shall be placed in a position for longer than forty (40) workdays. The Board will fill posted positions within 20 workdays after the end of the posting period.

- 11.4 The Employer will award the position using the following process, subject to Section 11.5 below:
  - A. A standardized test shall be administered to all employees from outside the classification who bid on Administrative/Clerical office staff, Custodial Foreman, Maintenance, Cafeteria Manager or Library Aide positions. Prior to the implementation of the standardized test, the Superintendent or designee and two (2) bargaining unit member representatives from the respective work area, appointed by the OAPSE President, shall meet and approve the components of each standardized test.
  - B. The position will first be awarded to the most senior employee who signed the bid sheet and is currently employed in the same classification as the vacancy.
  - C. If that employee does not successfully complete the probationary period contained in Section 11.5, the position will then be awarded to the second most senior employee who signed the bid sheet and is currently employed in the same classification as the vacancy. If only one employee from the same classification as the vacancy signed the bid sheet, the position will then be awarded to the most senior employee outside of the classification of the vacancy who signed the bid sheet and who meets the qualifications for the position.
  - D. If no employees within the classification of the vacancy signed the bid sheet, the position will be awarded to the most senior applicant outside of the classification of the vacancy who meets the qualifications for the position and has passed the standardized test, if applicable to the position. If that person does not successfully complete the probationary period, it will then be awarded to the next most senior applicant outside of the classification of the vacancy who meets the qualifications for the position and has passed the standardized test, if applicable to the position. A passing test score may be used for job bids in the applicable classification for twelve months from the date the test was administered.
  - E. If the position is not filled by the above-described process, the Employer may employ any inside or outside applicant at its discretion.
  - F. Employees are not considered qualified for a second position in the District if that position would result in excess of eight hours per day or overlap with the employee's first position.
  - G. All current and new employees and those employees awarded a new position in the custodial, maintenance, and fleet mechanic classifications shall be required to successfully pass a fitness for duty examination in order to qualify for employment

in the position. This provision applies to substitutes used in the same classifications.

- 11.5 Employees who are awarded a position will serve a five (5) actual workday probationary period for a position within the same classification, and a ten (10) actual workday probationary period for a position outside of their current classification. Employees are not eligible for personal leave, vacation or leave without pay during the applicable probationary period. During this time the employee must exhibit proficiency to perform the essential duties and responsibilities of the posted job description. An employee may elect to return to his/her previous position within this period. The Employer may return an employee to his/her previous position after the probationary period for failure to meet acceptable standards (performance). In the event the employee is returned to his/her previous position he/she will be given written notice stating the reasons for the Employer's actions. The written notice shall also contain suggestions on what is necessary for the employee to qualify for the position in the future.
- 11.6 The decision of the Employer to return an employee to his/her previous position is not grievable.
- 11.7 If the Employer permanently increases the hours assigned to a position, and the increase results in a change in wages and/or benefits in the position, the Employer will post the position as a new position.
- 11.8 Nothing in this Article shall be construed to compel the Employer to create positions or to restrict the manner in which the Employer assigns overtime or additional time to any employee.
- 11.9 The Employer will interview all bargaining unit employees who apply for a non-bargaining unit position and who meet the qualifications for the position. This section is not intended to change in any way the Board's discretion to hire any person it chooses for non-bargaining unit positions.
- 11.10 State and Federal summer programs are not covered by this Agreement, including but not limited to this Article 11.
- 11.11 All grant-funded after school programs for cafeteria workers will be posted and bid. Successful applicants will be paid for all work performed after the regular work day. If there are insufficient bidders the least senior employees in the classification will be assigned to the positions.

#### **ARTICLE 12 - REDUCTION AND LAYOFFS**

# 12.1 Reduction in Hours

A. In lieu of a reduction in force, the Employer and Union may agree to reduce hours in certain classifications. The Employer will not reduce the contractual hours of filled positions in order to reduce employees, without an agreement with the affected employees in the classification(s) to be reduced or with the Union.

- B. This provision shall not preclude the reduction of hours for vacant positions.
- C. Bus drivers shall be covered under 13.6(C).

# 12.2 <u>Layoff</u>

- A. If it becomes necessary to reduce the number of employees in a job classification due to: the abolishment of positions pursuant to O.R.C. 124.321, lack of funds, or reductions in state and/or federal funding of programs, the Employer shall determine in which classification the layoffs should occur and the number and positions from which employees are to be laid off.
- B. Whenever possible the number of people affected by reduction in the force will be kept to a minimum by attrition.
- C. At least sixty (60) days prior to any anticipated layoffs the Superintendent shall meet with the Local Officers to discuss the impending layoffs and the classifications which he/she anticipates will be impacted.
- D. All classifications listed on the Salary Schedule (Appendix A) shall be used for the purpose of determining where the layoff(s) will occur.
- E. Each employee to be laid off shall be given at least two weeks advance written notice of his/her layoff. Each notice of layoff shall state the following:
  - 1. Reasons for the layoff.
  - 2. The effective date of the layoff.
- F. Employees who are laid off shall have the right to all insurance benefits pursuant to COBRA providing the employee meets the eligibility requirements set forth by the carrier. The employee must pay the full cost of the premium at least fifteen (15) days prior to the due date. The Employer will notify the employee of where payment is to be made.
- G. Employees who are laid off may be placed on the substitute list if they so desire. Reasonable attempts will be made to use these employees when substitutes are needed.

# 12.3 <u>Bumping Procedure</u>

- A. An employee affected by a layoff may bump an employee with less District seniority in the same classification or any equal or lower paying classification.
- B. An individual bumping into a different classification with equal or lower pay must demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Superintendent the ability to perform the work of said position.

- C. Individual meetings shall be held with the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations, the President of the Association or designee, and the affected employee to explain the employee's options.
- D. The employee shall have up to twenty-four (24) hours after receiving notice of the layoff to notify the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations of his/her decision regarding bumping.
- E. This procedure shall be completed prior to any actual bumping occurring.
- F. If these standards are not met, the employee may not bump.

# 12.4 Recall Rights for Laid Off Employees

- A. Employees who are laid off shall be retained on a recall list for twenty-four (24) months from the effective date of the layoff. Employees on the recall list have a right to bid on vacancies and shall be sent notification of vacancies by certified mail to their last address on file with the District. For bidding purposes, employees on the recall list shall be considered to be in the classification held by the employee at the time he/she was laid off.
- B. Laid off employees shall maintain their seniority but will not accumulate seniority while on the recall list.
- C. The Local President shall receive a copy of the recall list and any updates to it.
- D. An employee may be removed from the recall list if he/she:
  - 1. Waives his/her recall rights in writing.
  - 2. Resigns.
  - 3. Fails to report to a position he/she has been awarded within fourteen (14) days of notification by certified mail to the employee's last address provided to the Employer, unless sick or injured as documented by a doctor's statement.

#### **ARTICLE 13 - TRANSPORTATION**

#### 13.1 Bus Driver/Operator Responsibilities

- A. The school bus driver will follow the Ohio Pupil Transportation Operation and Safety Rules and District policies and procedures.
- B. For bus driver re-certification (every six (6) years), drivers will make their best effort to complete the requirements for re-certification at a time other than when the driver is scheduled to be driving a bus. When a driver goes through recertification, the driver will be paid for class time and drive time to/from the training. The drive time will be calculated by the Transportation Supervisor.

- C. In the event a current driver is not successful in passing the recertification exam, the Employer will hold the employee's position and place the employee on unpaid leave for up to ninety (90) calendar days to allow the employee time to retest. If unsuccessful, the employee will be terminated after the ninety (90) calendar days.
- D. Drivers shall not be responsible for personal belongings or equipment while on field trips.

# 13.2 <u>Bidding for Routes/Runs</u>

Article 11 will be used to fill all new/open routes/runs, which will be posted by the fourth (4<sup>th</sup>) week of the school year.

# 13.3 Absentee Coverage for Midday Runs

- A. At the beginning of each school year, a Midday seniority list of all regular drivers will be posted by the Transportation Manager for the purpose of absentee coverage for midday runs. If a driver desires to have his/her name on the seniority list, he/she must sign up on the list posted in the transportation office.
- B. Assignments will be made by rotation through the seniority list.
- C. If a driver is absent, refuses an assignment, or cannot be reached on the day(s) coverage is required, he/she shall forfeit his/her turn in rotation on that list only.
- D. A long term midday driver will retain the midday run if absent less than five (5) consecutive workdays.

#### 13.4 Regular Trips/Late Trips

- A. After July 1 of each year, "Regular Trips" and "Late Trips" revised seniority lists of all regular drivers will be posted for the purpose of trip assignments.
- B. Trip Assignments Trips will be assigned by seniority rotation on each list.
  - 1. Trip assignments will be done by the Transportation Manager/Designee on a one week out basis. Assignments will be posted on the Monday (or first workday of the week) for the following Monday through Sunday trips. All drivers shall bid by Wednesday morning after the first run. Assignments will be made by Thursday. Minor adjustments will need to be made due to extended lengths of times when school is not in session, i.e., Christmas vacation, Easter, etc. Trip assignments may be reviewed by a designated union bus driver.
  - 2. Drivers will be allowed the opportunity to make any "last minute changes" if necessary, on the morning the trips are to be awarded up to 8:00 a.m., at which time the trips will be removed from the trip boards.

- 3. Trips will be awarded at 1:30 p.m. the day trips are to be assigned.
- 4. A driver does not need to be present on the day trips are assigned.
- 5. After a driver is assigned a trip, he/she cannot trade for another trip, except if they are offered a "Late Trip" or "Special route."
- 6. A driver subbing a midday run may not trade or be assigned a midday trip.
- 7. A driver may trade a midday trip for a "long term" midday run subbing opportunity. If a midday subbing opportunity is projected as being a "one day" need, the driver will be required to fulfill his/her previously assigned trip and the midday run will be awarded to the next available midday sub. Should the "one day" subbing opportunity turn into a "long term" need, the driver who fulfilled their trip responsibility the previous day, may assume the "long term" need until the regular driver returns. Any other previously assigned midday trips that this driver may have will be assigned to a sub driver.
- 8. During the first ten (10) workdays of each school year, substitute drivers will take all field trips that occur during regular route/run times.
- 9. Summer trips will be assigned in a timely fashion.

# C. <u>Trip Sign-Up</u>

- 1. Valid sign-up is signing your initials in the first box and preference by number in the second box by your name.
- 2. If you want your name removed from the list, cross it out.
- 3. If necessary, a driver may initiate or cancel a trip sign up by calling and speaking directly with the Transportation Manager or Clerk. Voicemails will not constitute a valid communication.

#### D. Trip Cancellation

## 1. By the Employer

- a. If a trip is canceled after a driver is assigned, he/she will have first choice of the next available unassigned trips in the next trip period. If more than one trip is canceled in the same trip period, drivers will be assigned their first choice trip in the order in which they were awarded their original trips.
- b. If a trip is canceled after the assigned driver clocks in, other than due to weather, he/she will be paid the full trip amount or their route

pay, whichever is less, and have first choice of the next available unassigned trips.

### 2. By the Driver

- a. If a driver refuses an assigned trip, the trip will be assigned to a substitute driver.
- b. The driver will be passed over for the refused trip and the next trip only in the regular trip or "Late Trip" rotation, but not both.
- c. If the driver misses a trip due to absence on an approved leave, per Article 15, the driver will not be passed over in the next rotation.

#### E. Late Trips

- 1. A "Late Trip" is any trip requested after the current week's trips have been awarded. All "Late Trip" requisitions will be made available to the regular drivers on the "Late Trips" rotation list. After one rotation, if no driver accepts the trip, it will be assigned to a sub driver.
- 2. If a regular driver's already assigned trip conflicts with a "Late Trip," the driver may have his/her choice between the two trips. The remaining trip will be assigned to a sub driver.
- 3. If a regular driver's already assigned trip does not conflict with a "Late Trip," the driver may accept both.
- F. It is the driver's responsibility to remain at the site of the trip destination.
- G. For trips of four (4) or more hours, the driver may take the bus for a 50-minute meal break. The driver must inform the person in charge that he/she will be leaving for a meal break. Violations may result in disciplinary action.
- H. Errors in trip assignments will be corrected as soon as possible.

# 13.5 Trip Minimum Pay

- A. Drivers will be paid for a minimum of one (1) hour at the trip rate.
- B. Beyond one (1) hour, the trip pay shall be for the duration of the trip.
- C. A driver will not be paid for a trip and a regular run at the same time.

## 13.6 Driver Minimum Pay

A. Drivers will be paid a minimum of two hours for a regular run. Beyond two (2) hours, pay will be for the duration of the run.

- B. All drivers shall conduct the pre-trip and post-trip bus inspection as required by law. All drivers will be paid for 15 minutes of prep time for the first run of the day for each bus.
- C. Route times may be adjusted periodically as conditions warrant through the school year, subject to Section 13.8(A).

#### 13.7 Fleet Mechanics

#### A. Tool Insurance

The Employer will provide fifty dollars (\$50.00) deductible insurance coverage against theft, vandalism and fire on personal tools required by fleet mechanics. This insurance will cover tools while on school premises or job assignment.

#### B. Uniforms

The Employer will provide fleet mechanics one (1) uniform for each day of the normal workweek, and will provide for the uniform's weekly cleaning with a uniform cleaning service. A uniform consists of one (1) pair of pants and one (1) shirt. A total of eleven (11) uniforms for each mechanic will be contracted so the mechanics have a clean uniform for each day, including the scheduled pick-up day.

# C. On Call

The Employer will not require fleet mechanics to take a radio home. If a mechanic is called out, an emergency call as defined in Section 17.5 (A) will apply.

#### 13.8 Definitions and Terms

#### A. Route

Transportation of students over a specific course on a regular basis. A route will consist of an a.m. and p.m. run. Any bus route that increases or decreases by more than thirty (30) minutes will be considered open and re-bid per Article 11.

# B. <u>Trip</u>

Non-routine transportation of students to and from a school sanctioned activity for which a bus requisition is required.

#### C. Shuttle

Transportation of students between buildings added to a route.

# D. Run

Transportation of students on a regular basis in the a.m., at midday, or in the p.m.

# E. <u>Layover</u>

Compensated time, not driving, while on duty.

# F. <u>Long Term Midday Coverage</u>

Coverage for a midday run that is more than five (5) consecutive workdays on the same midday run.

# G. Special Route

Any route above a driver's contracted hours. Drivers will receive a minimum of two (2) hours of route pay. Special routes will go on a rotation list and be awarded one (1) week at a time.

## 13.9 Rules for Exchanging Routes Between Drivers

- A. Should the Employer desire to exchange routes between drivers for just cause, such as provisions of safety, health, or operations on behalf of the public, a meeting will be held with the building steward and affected employees. No public comment shall be made by representatives of the Employer or the Local concerning matters discussed in that meeting.
- B. Any exchange of routes initiated by the Employer shall not reduce the wages or regular hours of the affected drivers for the remainder of the school year.
- C. It is the intention of the Employer to maintain communication and cooperation between and among employees, students, and parents concerning the rules, regulations, procedures and penalties in transporting students.

# 13.10 Route Updates

Drivers will be responsible to provide current updates to the transportation office on both route changes and student moves.

# 13.11 Substitute Work

Reasonable efforts will be made to offer bus drivers the first opportunity to work as a substitute in Cafeteria and Custodial positions.

#### **ARTICLE 14 - WORKING CONDITIONS**

## 14.1 Calamity Days/Delays/Early Dismissal Procedures

#### A. Calamity Days

- 1. For the first five (5) school days in a school year when schools are closed for the entire day by the Employer because of snow or other conditions without the need to make them up, employees would not necessarily report for duty but would be compensated for all hours lost on each of these calamity days of each year. If an employee is on an unpaid leave, no compensation for the day will be paid. When required to work on each of these days, as deemed necessary by the employee's immediate supervisor, the employee shall receive their normal day's pay <u>plus</u> time and one-half for all hours actually worked.
- 2. If more than five (5) calamity days are required then twelve (12) month employees will report for work on those days. If an employee doesn't believe he/she can safely travel to work they should notify their Immediate Supervisor. Such employee(s) may use accrued vacation or personal time in lieu of reporting to work.
- 3. No accumulation of calamity time will be charged against employees for two-hour delays or early dismissals. Days are considered calamity days only when school is closed all day.

#### B. Delays

- 1. All employees, except bus drivers, are required to report for work at their regular start times. If an employee doesn't believe he/she can safely travel to work he/she should notify their Immediate Supervisor.
- 2. An employee who arrives late may make up lost time at the end of his/her shift (with the approval of the Supervisor); use accrued vacation or personal time; or waive compensation for the time lost.
- 3. If the employee makes up the time lost without obligating the Employer to pay overtime pursuant to the FLSA or Section 17.4 prior to the end of the pay period, waiver of compensation will not occur.
- 4. All employees at work during a delay, which then becomes a calamity day, will be compensated at the rate of time and one-half for all hours actually worked and straight time for the balance of their regular contractual work day.

# C. Early Dismissal

All employees are required to work until their regular quitting times. Bus drivers will report early and will be compensated for their regular contracted time plus time and one-half for any additional time required to work due to calamity.

# 14.2 <u>Excessive Tardiness or Absenteeism</u>

When the Employer has established that an employee has developed a pattern of excessive tardiness or absenteeism which demonstrates abuse, the employee may be subject to disciplinary action.

# 14.3 Working Hours

- A. The normal workday is eight (8) hours. The normal workweek is forty (40) hours.
- B. Working hours may vary depending upon the requirements of the different job classifications.
- C. The working hours will be explained to each employee by his/her immediate supervisor.
- D. An employee's calendar work schedule:
  - 1. Will not be changed without mutual agreement between the Employer and employee. The employee shall notify the Local President of any calendar change, subsequent to reaching an agreement with the Employer.
  - 2. Once the Board has issued the school calendar, the employees' calendar work schedule will not be changed, except by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Local.

#### 14.4 Workweek

- A. The workweek begins at 12:00 a.m. Sunday and extends to 11:59 p.m. the following Saturday. Each workday is considered as beginning at 12:00 a.m. and extending for a twenty-four (24) hour period.
- B. No employee shall be required to take time off during such employee's regular five (5) consecutive days workweek in order to work on one or more days beyond such employee's regular workweek. Nothing herein shall preclude an employee from voluntarily working beyond his/her regular workweek.

#### 14.5 Medication

Employees may be required to dispense and administer only medications that are for chronic conditions that are prescribed only by physicians, and in the event the school nurse, first-aid supervisor, or immediate administrator is unavailable.

# 14.6 Work Rules

- A. The Employer shall provide copies of all existing work rules, policies, or directives to the Local Officers and the employees.
- B. Copies of newly established work rules or amendments to existing work rules will be furnished to and discussed with the appropriate Local officials prior to their posting and implementation.
- C. No such work rules, policies, or directives shall conflict with or violate any provision of this Agreement, and such rules, policies, and directives shall be reasonable and applied consistently where applicable.
- D. The Employer uses email as a main source of communication. It is the Employee's responsibility to check their email account on a regular basis.

# 14.7 Personnel Files

An employee may inspect his/her personnel file that is maintained by the Employer. The employee may have a Union Representative present during such inspection. The employee may obtain a copy(s) of his/her files at a cost of \$0.05 per page.

# 14.8 <u>Lunch Periods – Breaks</u>

- A. Employees working six (6) or more hours a day shall be entitled to a sixty (60) minute uninterrupted and unpaid lunch period.
- B. Employees working six (6) or more hours a day shall be entitled to two (2) uninterrupted and paid fifteen (15) minute rest periods, to be scheduled with approval of the building administrator.
- C. Part-time employees working less than six hours may take a break with full-time employees as long as break time is made up.

#### 14.9 Mandatory Meetings

All mandatory meetings scheduled for any classification shall be compensated at the regular rate of salary. Meeting notices shall clearly state whether a meeting is mandatory or voluntary.

#### 14.10 Calendar Adjustment

- A. When the Employer determines that a need exists for additional work on a building level basis, the work shall be offered at the negotiated hourly rate.
- B. All elementary secretaries will be employed for seven and one-half (7.5) hours per day.

C. All Paraprofessional Media Aides must work during parent-teacher conference days. No personal leaves will apply to these days, and no calendar adjustments will be made.

# 14.11 Resignation - Required by Employee

- A. Written letters of resignation are required from employees who desire to terminate their positions as regular employees of the Board. All such letters should be addressed to the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations and should be received by him/her at least two (2) weeks in advance of the desired date of resignation.
- B. While no reason for resignation is required, employees are encouraged to state a reason in order that the Employer may take steps to correct unsatisfactory conditions of employment if such reason is given for a resignation. Reasons are also desirable in order to answer future official inquiries concerning the employee's termination of employment.

# 14.12 Principal's Duties

In any building in which an assistant principal has not been assigned, a central office administrator(s) shall have responsibility for the building when the principal is absent from the District. No secretary shall be responsible for the administration of any building; the responsibilities of such secretary are outlined in the job description for that position.

# ARTICLE 15 - VACATION, HOLIDAYS, AND LEAVES

#### 15.1 Vacation

- A. The vacation policy pertains to full-time employees only. For the purpose of this Article, a full-time employee is a person who is contracted to work at least eleven (11) months in each calendar year.
- B. For the purpose of determining the eligibility for vacation benefits, the date of employment shall be the employee's first workday as a bargaining unit member.
- C. All vacation leave accrued through July 30, 2008 shall be capped. After that date vacation not taken within a year of accrual will be forfeited.
- D. The vacation schedule is as follows:
  - 6 Months to 1 Year 7 workdays
     After 1 Year 13 workdays
     After 10 Years 16 workdays
  - 4. After 15 Years 25 workdays

Employees shall be granted partial vacation days to the nearest quarter of an hour.

- E. A newly hired employee, or a school calendar employee awarded a full-time position, cannot use vacation for the first six (6) months in the position, unless approved by the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations.
- F. A school calendar employee who is awarded a full-time position shall begin accruing vacation on the effective date of assignment to the position and shall be granted vacation in accordance with his/her District seniority. If a full-time employee is awarded a school calendar position, vacation days will be paid at the employee's daily rate for the position in which the vacation was earned. No vacation days will carry over to the school calendar year position.
- G. An employee entering the District from other school systems or any public agency in Ohio (other than as an elective office) has the responsibility of notifying the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations of any prior service. The employee's prior service will be counted as service for the purpose of computing the amount of vacation leave.
- H. All vacation hours are allotted in accordance with the regularly scheduled hours of the employee involved.
- I. Vacation is paid on the salary or hourly rate in effect at the time the vacation is taken.
- J. If a holiday occurs during an employee's vacation, an extra day is taken at a time arranged with his/her supervisor.

# 15.2 Vacation - Unused Leave to the Surviving Spouse

In case of the death of an employee, any unused vacation pay shall be paid to the surviving spouse, or other designated dependent.

# 15.3 Vacation - Unused to Employee Terminating Service

In case of termination of an employee, he/she shall be entitled to compensation of all earned but unused vacation leave to his/her credit at time of separation.

# 15.4 Paid Holidays

A. All full-time (eleven (11) months or more per year) employees after completing thirty (30) days of employment, are entitled to the following holidays: Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Friday after Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, New Year's Eve, New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day, Presidents Day, Good Friday, and Memorial Day. In the event that Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, New Year's Eve or New Year's Day occurs on a weekend they shall be designated as floating holidays and scheduled at the discretion of the Employer, during Christmas break.

- B. All school calendar employees after completing thirty (30) days of employment, are entitled to the following holidays: Thanksgiving Day, Friday after Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day, Presidents Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day and Labor Day. In regards to Labor Day, if an employee is not scheduled to work immediately prior to Labor Day, the employee must then work or be properly excused from work on the last scheduled workday of the previous school year and work the first scheduled workday of the new school year. In regards to Memorial Day, if the last scheduled workday for the school year is prior to Memorial Day the employee must work or have accrued earnings the last scheduled workday before the holiday. In the event that Christmas Day or New Year's Day occurs on a weekend they shall be designated as floating holidays and scheduled at the discretion of the Employer, during Christmas break.
- C. If Independence Day falls on a Sunday, the day following is observed as the holiday. If Independence Day falls on Saturday, the day preceding the holiday will be observed.
- D. The employee must be in active pay status on his/her last scheduled workday before a holiday(s) and his/her first scheduled workday after the holiday(s) in order to be eligible for payment.
- E. If a holiday falls during the time an employee is on sick leave, the employee is paid holiday pay and the day is not deducted from accumulated sick leave.

## 15.5 Sick Leave Policy

- A. All employees shall be granted sick leave without loss of pay according to the following policy:
  - 1. Sick leave shall be granted at the rate of one and one-fourth (1¼) days per month of service credit. The total accumulation per fiscal year is fifteen (15) days. Unused sick leave shall accumulate to a maximum of 244 days for school calendar employees. Unused sick leave for full-time employees shall accumulate to a maximum of 260 days. (For the purpose of this section, the fiscal year begins on July 1 and extends through the following June 30.)
  - 2. The Director of Human Resources and Community Relations may request satisfactory proof for absence from work due to illness before payment of sick leave is made. If an employee refuses to submit proof, sick leave pay will not be allowed and the employee may be subject to disciplinary action.
  - 3. No employee shall lose his/her accumulated sick leave by reason of having been on leave of absence.

- 4. Employees entering the system from other school systems or any public agency in Ohio have the responsibility of notifying the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations of any accumulated sick leave.
- 5. Each employee who has exhausted his/her accumulated sick leave, upon written request of the employee, shall be entitled to an advancement of up to five (5) days, providing these days can be subsequently earned during the current school year. Such sick leave shall be charged against subsequently accumulated sick leave until the advancement is repaid.

B.

- 1. Employees who are contracted to work 215 or fewer work days per year and use less than four (4) days of sick leave per fiscal year shall be credited with two (2) days per year of severance pay upon separation above the maximum days allowed in Sections 16.5 A, B and C. This payment shall be calculated at the employee's regular rate of pay in effect at the time of his/her retirement or death.
- 2. Employees who are contracted to work more than 215 work days per year who use less than five (5) days of sick leave per fiscal year shall be credited with two (2) days per year of severance pay at separation above the maximum days allowed in Sections 16.5 A, B and C.

# 15.6 Sick Leave Use

- A. Sick leave shall be granted to an employee only upon approval for the following reasons:
  - 1. Illness or injury of the employee or a member of the immediate family. (In case of a member of the immediate family not living in the same household, the Employer may credit sick leave when he/she believes it is justified, but such cases should be carefully investigated.)
  - 2. Death of a member of the immediate family.
  - 3. Medical, dental, or optical examination or treatment of employee, or a member of the immediate family.
  - 4. If a member of the immediate family is afflicted with a contagious disease and requires the care and attendance of the employee; or when through exposure to a contagious disease, the presence of the employee at his/her job would jeopardize the health of others.
  - 5. Pregnancy and/or childbirth and other conditions related thereto.
- B. Definition of immediate family: Grandparents, brother, sister, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, father, father-in-law, mother, mother-in-

- law, spouse, child, grandchild, a legal guardian and other person who stands in place of a parent.
- C. Employees failing to comply with sick leave rules and regulations shall not be paid. Application for sick leave with intent to defraud will result in termination and refund of salary or wage paid.
- D. The Director of Human Resources and Community Relations will consider any exceptional cases in which the above regulations would unreasonably penalize the individual.
- E. The Director of Human Resources and Community Relations may require the employee to furnish satisfactory proof or affidavit that the absence was due to any of the causes mentioned in this section, regardless of the length of illness.

#### 15.7 Personal Business Leave

- A. Each employee shall be granted three (3) personal business days per year. New employees shall be granted three (3) personal days at the end of successful completion of their ninety (90) workday probationary period.
  - 1. Requests must be submitted three (3) days in advance.
  - 2. No reason must be given as long as there is compliance with Section B, below.
  - 3. A Supervisor will make reasonable efforts to respond to a request for personal leave within two (2) weeks.
  - 4. Unused days may accumulate to a maximum of six (6).
  - 5. Members may cash in unused personal days at a rate of \$100/unused day, for employees who regularly work five (5) hours per day or more, and \$60/unused day, for employees who regularly work less than five (5) hours per day. Members must notify the Treasurer on or before June 1 to be paid cash for unused days. If a member fails to notify the Treasurer by June 1, the member's unused days will be carried over.
- B. No personal business leave shall be used:
  - 1. On the employee's last scheduled workday before or first scheduled workday after winter break or spring break, and the day before Thanksgiving break unless special permission is granted by the Director of Human Resources for an emergency or other circumstances beyond the Member's control.
  - 2. During the first or last week of school (except 12-month employees) unless special permission is granted by the Director of Human Resources for an emergency or other circumstances beyond the Member's control.

#### 15.8 Leave of Absence - Definition

- A. A leave of absence is a period of extended absence from duty for which written request has been made and formal approval granted by the Employer. Without request, the Employer may grant a leave of absence to any employee because of physical or mental disability.
- B. Employees may be granted a leave of absence for the following reasons:
  - 1. Illness
  - 2. Disability
  - 3. Maternity
  - 4. Enlistment in the Armed Forces of the United States
  - 5. Miscellaneous
- C. Compensation during leaves of absence will be dependent upon the type of leave and will be determined by the Superintendent.
- D. Increment credit on the pay schedule will be granted during leaves of absence for military duty.
- E. Sick leave credit will not accumulate during an unpaid leave of absence.
- F. Leaves of absence for any purpose will not extend for a longer period than one calendar year. Leaves of absence may be renewed, upon request to the Employer, for a one-year period.
- G. An employee who fails to return to duty within three (3) days of completion of a leave of absence, without explanation to the Employer, may be dismissed.

#### 15.9 Personal Illness/Illness in the Immediate Family

- A. <u>Eligibility</u>: An employee who has completed their initial probationary period with the Employer, who is unable to perform satisfactorily the duties of his/her position because of personal illness, other disability, or an illness in the immediate family may be granted a leave of absence without pay for a period not to exceed 12 months. Extension of the leave for an additional 12 months may be granted under unusual circumstances at the discretion of the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations and Superintendent and upon approval of the Board of Education.
  - The immediate family shall include parents, grandparents, children, spouse, or corresponding relative of said spouse regardless of location, or of any person in the employee's household who is dependent on the employee for care.
- B. <u>Application for Leave</u>: A written application to the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations for a leave of absence for ill health shall be accompanied

- by a statement from the attending physician giving the nature of the illness and definitely recommending that the employee be relieved of his duties.
- C. <u>Application for Reinstatement</u>: After an application for leave of absence for ill health has been granted, the responsibility for requesting termination of the leave and reappointment rests with the employee. If such a request is not made earlier than four weeks before the expiration of the leave, the employee shall be considered as having severed his/her connection with the District.
- D. <u>Termination of Leave</u>: A request for termination of leave and reappointment to duty shall be accompanied by a physician's certificate indicating that the employee has been examined by the physician and that he is able to resume his regular duties with the Employer.
- E. <u>Unrequested Leave of Absence</u>: Without a request on the part of the employee, the Employer may grant a leave of absence, or a renewal thereof, to any employee because of mental or physical disability but such employee shall have the right of a hearing on unrequested leave of absence in accordance with O.R.C. Section 3319.13.
- F. Request to Return to Work: Upon written request to the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations of an employee's intentions to return to work after a leave of absence for personal illness, and he/she is medically approved to do so, he/she may expect to return to the same position.
- G. Earned accumulated sick leave shall be retained to the employee's credit, but no additional sick leave days shall be accumulated during the leave of absence. No service credit shall be granted for a leave of absence for illness on the pay schedule.

# 15.10 Bereavement Leave

- A. Employees may be absent from regular duties because of death in the immediate family, without loss of pay, as follows:
  - 1. Three (3) days are considered reasonable for absence due to death in the immediate family. However, additional days may be granted where the circumstances of a particular situation may warrant additional day(s).
  - 2. For the purpose of this section, the immediate family shall include: Grandparents, brother, sister, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, father, father-in-law, mother, mother-in-law, spouse, child, grandchild, a legal guardian or other person who stands in place of parent and uncles, aunts, nieces and nephews.
  - 3. Absence due to death in the immediate family shall not be charged to the employee's accumulated sick leave. If an employee desires and is approved for additional days, said additional days will be deducted from sick leave upon approval of the Superintendent.

- B. Regulations pertaining to Section A are as follows:
  - 1. Employee's pay is for the normal number of hours per day that the employee usually works at his/her per diem rate in effect at the time of bereavement.
  - 2. No extra pay will be granted for multiple or simultaneous deaths occurring within the same period.
  - 3. No pay will be granted in deaths where, because of distance or other reasons, the employee does not attend the funeral of the deceased, except under extenuating circumstances.
  - 4. If requested by the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations, satisfactory proof of death shall be furnished.
  - 5. If such days occur during the employee's vacation, additional time shall be granted with time arranged with employee's supervisor.
  - 6. If the employee is on a leave of absence, no bereavement pay will be made.
  - 7. Employee requesting pay under the bereavement policy must complete the necessary form and note same on his time card before payment may be granted.

### 15.11 Assault Leave

- A. All cases of physical violence upon the person of an employee shall be reported to their supervisor. All employees shall be granted not more than thirty days of leave without loss of pay when such employee is unable to perform his/her duties by reason of being assaulted by another person while in the course of the assaulted employee's employment. Assault leave shall not be deducted from sick leave or personal leave. The Superintendent may request such employee provide a doctor's statement certifying that such employee cannot perform his/her duties by reason of such injuries.
- B. If an employee receives Worker's Compensation for days covered by this provision the employee shall turn over the money paid by Worker's Compensation for days during which they received assault leave pay.

# 15.12 <u>Leave of Absence - Maternity</u>

- A. Any employee who is pregnant, who has completed the probationary period and desires to remain an employee of the District, upon request, may be granted a leave of absence from her work for maternity purposes.
- B. The employee should report her condition to her immediate supervisor as soon as it becomes known. A statement from the attending physician giving the anticipated date of birth of the child must be submitted. Before returning to work, she shall submit a statement from a physician stating that she is in physical condition to

perform her duties. Upon written request to the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations of her intention to return to work after a maternity leave, and she is medically approved to do so, the employee may expect to return to the same job classification.

C. All forms of paid leave need to be used before taking unpaid days for a maternity leave. Vacation and/or sick leave shall only accumulate if the employee is in paid status.

#### 15.13 Jury Duty

- A. The Employer encourages employees to perform their civic responsibilities when called upon for jury duty.
- B. The Director of Human Resources and Community Relations and the immediate supervisor shall be notified promptly when a jury summons is received.
- C. The full rate of compensation shall be allowed for such service provided the check received for the jury service is endorsed and made payable to the Board of Education. Payments will be based on the pay rate on record at the time of such service. Payments will be made only for time lost from work because of jury duty.
- D. An employee requesting pay for jury duty must complete the necessary form and note same on his/her time card before payment may be granted.
- E. Time taken off for jury duty shall not be charged to accumulated leave due the employee.

#### 15.14 Court Appearance as Witness

Time lost by an employee to give testimony as a witness in court shall not be charged against personal leave if such employee is subpoenaed unless the employee is named in the cause of action. The full rate of compensation shall be allowed for such services provided the check received as a witness fee is endorsed and made payable to the Board of Education. If the amount of the check from the court is greater than the amount of compensation due to the employee, the employee shall receive the difference.

#### 15.15 Absence - Employee Responsible for Reporting

In case it is necessary for an employee to be absent from duty, the employee shall enter their absence in AESOP as soon as the necessity for absence has been determined or as soon thereafter as feasible so that a substitute may be called. Absence for reasons other than illness shall be approved in advance by their immediate supervisor, except in emergencies.

## 15.16 Absence - Authorized - Time Off Unpaid

- A. All employees are expected to discharge the duties of their respective positions and shall not be absent except for reasons authorized by this Agreement, or for such other good and sufficient reasons as may be approved by the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations. Partial or full compensation during a period of authorized absence may be paid within the limitations of this Agreement or the law governing such absence.
- B. Leave without pay may also be authorized by the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations.

# 15.17 Absence - Due to Emergency

In the event of an absence resulting from travel difficulty between the employee's place of residence and his/her place of employment, the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations may waive the pay deduction if the travel difficulty arises from storm, flood, or other conditions beyond the control of the employee, and if in the judgment of the Director of Human Resources and Community Relations, the employee has made every reasonable effort to reach his/her place of employment. Such days shall be charged against accumulated personal leave.

## 15.18 <u>Absence - Unauthorized</u>

- A. Any absence for any reason not recognized as valid by the Employer, whether arranged or not, and whether the employee notifies his/her supervisor or not, shall be considered unauthorized absence and no payment or compensation shall be made. Unauthorized absence from duty shall be considered by the Employer as grounds for suspension or termination of the employee.
- B. Unauthorized absence of more than three (3) successive workdays will automatically terminate employment.
- C. Unpaid or dock days may be requested but can be denied by the Director of Human Resources. Travel plans should not be made and paid for before requested days are approved. School year employees should plan their vacations during the times that school is not in session (i.e., Summer, Winter, and Spring breaks as designated on the District school calendar).

#### 15.19 <u>Leave of Absence - Military Duty</u>

- A. <u>Eligibility</u>: Any employee who has completed the ninety (90) workday probationary period with the Board shall be granted a leave of absence to be inducted or otherwise enter military service in accordance with the provisions of the law (O.R.C. Section 5923.05).
- B. <u>Application for Leave</u>: Application for leave of absence for military duty should be made as far in advance of that duty as is feasible, but not later than the date upon

which orders to report for military duty are received. Leave of absence granted for military service shall be for not more than four years at a time. The person desiring the military leave to be extended must apply for the extensions prior to the expiration of the leave in effect.

- C. <u>Application for Reinstatement</u>: Application for reinstatement as an employee of the Board shall be made within ninety (90) days after discharge from military service for which leave was granted. Upon evidence of honorable discharge and upon proper application for reinstatement to duty, the employee, subject to passing the physical examination, shall be returned to a position similar but not necessarily the same as the one he left. Application for reinstatement does not apply to anyone with a dishonorable discharge.
- D. <u>Credit on Salary Schedule</u>: For the purposes of seniority and placement on the salary schedule, years of absence in military service of the United States, not to exceed five years, shall be counted as though regular service had been performed at the time.
- E. The accumulated sick leave shall be retained to the employee's credit, but no additional sick leave shall be accumulated during the military leave.

#### 15.20 Workers' Compensation

- A. All employees are covered by Workers' Compensation laws in cases of injury or death incurred in the course of or arising out of their employment. The cost is paid by the Board of Education and no contributions are required from individual employees.
- B. An injury incurred while performing assigned responsibilities shall be reported to the injured employee's supervisor or other designated representative and an application may be filed with the Bureau of Workers' Compensation.
- C. If approved for Workers' Compensation which would require being off work, the employee will take Workers' Compensation leave.
- D. For an employee who is on approved Workers' Compensation leave in which the Board is the employer, the employee's insurance benefits will be paid by the Board for one (1) year. Any further continuation of insurance benefits will be fully paid for by the employee without any contribution from the Board. At this point, if the employee cannot return to work or will not assume a Transitional Work Assignment, he/she will be evaluated by a doctor mutually agreed upon by the Board and OAPSE to recommend an appropriate course of action.
- E. Updates regarding the status of Workers' Compensation expenses will be discussed periodically in the Labor Management Committee.

#### 15.21 Transitional Work Assignment

The District provides transitional work assignments to members who are temporarily disabled due to work related injury or illness to facilitate the member's return to their regular job assignment. Such assignments will be made under the following conditions:

- A. Upon the member's medical release to return to work with physical restrictions and limitations, a determination will be made by the member's supervisor in consultation with the Superintendent to provide a suitable job assignment which accommodates the member's temporary/partial disability. The Association President will be informed of any transitional work assignment.
- B. The decision to provide transitional work duty assignments will be based on the employee's medical restrictions and limitations and the ability of the department and/or building to provide such assignments. Transitional work assignments will not exceed 120 calendar days during a twelve (12) month period, unless extended by the Superintendent. There shall be no guarantee to provide such assignments. If, after 120 calendar days or extension thereof, an employee is unable to resume his/her regular job assignment or its essential functions, the employee will be placed on sick leave, if any accrued and unused sick time is available, or worker's compensation as appropriate, or the 120 days may be extended by the Superintendent.
- C. The employee shall be compensated at his/her regular earnings rate for all work performed during the course of the transitional work duty assignment. The employee's benefits shall continue to accrue at the employee's regular rate of pay during the transitional work duty assignment.
- D. During the course of a transitional work duty assignment, the employee will be expected to follow prescribed treatment as defined by their attending physician, as well as any requests by the District for additional medical information or clarification through a medical examination by a mutually (Board and OAPSE) approved physician.
- E. Upon a full medical release by the employee's attending physician and approval of the Superintendent, the employee will resume the full duties and responsibilities of his/her regular assigned position. If there is a disagreement concerning whether the employee can resume full duties, the Board will pay for a third doctor's opinion, which will be controlling.

#### 15.22 Leave of Absence - Miscellaneous

A. <u>Eligibility</u>: If an employee who has completed the ninety (90) workday probationary period with the Employer requests a leave, other than personal illness or military, he/she may make a written request to the Employer stating his/her reason for the leave. This leave may or may not be granted, at the discretion of the Employer.

- B. If the Employer denies the request for leave, then the employee will have to decide whether to remain on the job or resign.
- C. If it is necessary for an employee to resign, and he/she is able later to return to work, he/she may make application to be reappointed whenever there is a job opening.
- D. It will be the responsibility of the employee to ask to be reinstated approximately four (4) weeks before the termination of his/her leave.
- E. If leave has been granted, earned accumulated sick leave shall be retained to the employee's credit but no additional sick leave shall be accumulated during the leave of absence.
- F. In case such absence exceeds three months, the period in excess of three months will not be considered as service credit unless otherwise authorized by the Employer.
- G. If the pay schedule has changed during an employee's leave of absence, his/her basic rate shall be changed according to his/her service record. Except as specified, no increment on the pay schedule shall be allowed for the period of leave.
- H. Family leave will be governed by Federal Law and Board Policy.

#### **ARTICLE 16 - FRINGE BENEFITS**

## 16.1 <u>Health and Wellness Program</u>

#### A. Purpose

The purpose of the Health and Wellness Program is to assist members whose personal problems are affecting their job performance and to promote better employee health.

## B. <u>Eligibility</u>

EAP eligibility in the program is inclusive of all full and part-time members and their dependents as defined by the carrier. Eligibility in the Wellness Program is inclusive of all full and part-time members.

# C. Administration of the Health and Wellness Program

- 1. A committee shall annually be appointed by the Employer, OAPSE, and FEA to oversee operations of the established program.
- 2. The Health and Wellness Program Committee shall meet quarterly. (Specific individuals and/or cases shall not be discussed.) The topics and agenda for this meeting shall be limited to program issues such as:

administration of the program, costs of the program, and periodic evaluation of the program.

Reporting information shall be limited to restrictions on confidentiality and EAP guidelines.

3. Membership on this committee shall include: three (3) unit members appointed by the President of the FEA, a Board member, two (2) administrative members appointed by the Superintendent and three (3) representatives from OAPSE. All committee recommendations must be reached by consensus.

## D. Scope of Health and Wellness Program

- 1. The Health and Wellness Committee will meet to examine costs and savings, to investigate ways to save administrative costs (including the review of other insurance networks and third party administrators) and to educate staff about insurance usages.
- 2. The Employer shall provide an Employee Assistance Program that offers counseling in each of the following areas:
  - a. drug and alcohol problems
  - b. emotional problems
  - c. family problems
  - d. marital problems
  - e. legal/financial problems
- 3. The Employer shall provide, at no cost to the member, initial consultation and/or assessment service as defined within the program.
- 4. The Employer accepts that in cases involving professional treatment, sick leave will be granted for treatment or rehabilitation on the same basis as is granted for other health purposes. Unpaid leave shall be recommended when treatment or rehabilitation is needed, and no paid leave is available. The directed member will be required to be medically certified as capable of returning to work before being readmitted to his/her work site.
- 5. Implementation of this policy will not jeopardize a member's job security.
- 6. This policy is voided by refusal of a member to accept professional assessment and treatment, if needed, or failure to respond to diagnosis and treatment, if needed, when job performance is affected, and shall not be interpreted as a waiver of the Employer's responsibility to follow proper disciplinary procedure.
- 7. All information regarding a member's participation in this program will be confidential.

#### 16.2 Insurance Section 125 Plan

Employees shall have the right to voluntarily participate in the IRS Section 125 Plan, which allows the employees' portion of insurance premiums to be paid with pre-tax dollars.

#### 16.3 Medical, Dental and Vision Insurance

A. A new employee may enroll within sixty (60) days of employment, however, employees must complete thirty (30) days of employment to be eligible for the Employer's portion listed below.

# B. Major Medical

The Employer shall offer three (3) Major Medical Insurance Policies consistent with the following:

#### Option 1 - \$500/\$1000

- \$500 Individual/\$1,000 Family Deductible
- Coinsurance is 80% Board paid in-network and 60% Board paid out-of-network
- Maximum co-insurance out-of-pocket per year for in-network is \$1,000 single and \$2,000 family
- Maximum out-of-pocket per year in-network is \$1,500 single and \$3,000 family
- Maximum medical co-pay out-of-pocket per year in-network is \$1,000 single and \$2,000 family
- Maximum out-of-pocket per year out-of-network is \$2,500 single and \$5,000 family
- \$75 employee co-pay then plan pays 100% for ER visits
- Covered prescription drugs will be subject to the following co-pays:

	<u> Mail (90-Day)</u>	Retail (30-day)
Generic	\$25.00	\$10.00
Formulary	\$87.50	\$35.00
Non-formulary/Brand	\$150.00	\$60.00

- Specialty Drugs 20% of cost to a maximum of \$150.00
- Maximum annual prescription drug co-pays is \$3,100 single and \$6,200 family

• Compound prescriptions are subject to the same co-pay as noted above, however, the plan cost of the prescription is limited to a maximum of \$500 per prescription. The employee will pay any cost over the maximum.

## Option 2 - \$1,000/\$2,000

- \$1,000 Individual/\$2,000 Family Deductible
- Coinsurance is 80% Board paid in-network and 60% Board paid out-of-network
- Maximum co-insurance out-of-pocket per year in-network is \$1,500 single and \$3,000 family
- Maximum out-of-pocket per year in-network is \$2,500 single and \$5,000 family.
- Maximum medical co-pay out-of-pocket per year in-network is \$1,500 single and \$3,000 family
- Maximum out-of-pocket per year out-of-network is \$3,500 single and \$7,000 family.
- \$150 employee co-pay then plan pays 100% for ER visits
- Covered prescription drugs will be subject to the following co-pays:

	<u> Mail (90-Day)</u>	Retail (30-day)
Generic	\$25.00	\$10.00
Formulary	\$87.50	\$35.00
Non-formulary/Brand	\$150.00	\$60.00

- Specialty Drugs 20% of cost to a maximum of \$150.00
- Maximum annual prescription drug co-pays is \$3,100 single and \$6,200 family
- Compound prescriptions are subject to the same co-pay as noted above, however, the plan cost of the prescription is limited to a maximum of \$500 per prescription. The employee will pay any cost over the maximum.

# Option 3 - \$3,000/\$6,000 (High Deductible)

- \$3,000 Individual/\$6,000 Family Deductible
- Coinsurance after deductible met is 100% Board paid in-network and 60% Board paid out-of-network
- After the deductible is met, maximum co-insurance out-of-pocket per year in-network is \$0 single and \$0 family

- Maximum out-of-pocket per year in-network is \$3,000 single and \$6,000 family
- Maximum post deductible copays (ER/Prescription) out-of-pocket per year for in-network deductible is \$4,100 single and \$8,200 family
- Maximum out-of-pocket per year out-of-network is \$6,850 single and \$13,700 family
- Employee is responsible for opening their own Health Savings Account (HSA) and providing the direct deposit information to the Treasurer's Office prior to the first scheduled deposit
- After deductible the following copays apply:

\$200 for ER visits

	<u> Mail (90-Day)</u>	Retail (30-day)
Generic	\$0.00	\$0.00
Formulary	\$75.00	\$25.00
Non-formulary/Brand	\$150.00	\$50.00

- Specialty Drugs 20% of cost to a maximum of \$150.00
- Compound prescriptions are subject to the same co-pay as noted above, however, the plan cost of the prescription is limited to a maximum of \$500 per prescription. The employee will pay any cost over the maximum.

# C. Employee premiums under any plan

- The contribution rate for each individual participant will be determined based on the results of the screenings from the previous fall. The Health and Wellness Committee will be responsible for determining how premium credits are earned.
- For employees whose spouse is not covered by the District's insurance plan, premiums will be reduced in 2% increments to a maximum reduction of 10% based upon the results obtained on the previous fall health screening. Reductions will be based on the following chart:

BONUS REDUCTION EARNED								
TOTAL POINTS	EMPLOYEE ONLY							
EARNED								
Non-Participant	Pays full base rate contribution							
0 Points	May choose "Opt. 1", "Opt. 2", or "Opt. 3"; Pays full base							
	rate contribution							
1 Point	2% Discount							
2 Points	4% Discount							

3 Points	6% Discount
4 Points	8% Discount
5 Points	10% Discount

If an employee and the employee's spouse are covered by the District's insurance plan, premiums will be reduced in 2% increments to a maximum reduction of 10% based upon the results obtained on the previous fall health screening. Reductions will be based on the following chart:

	BONUS REDUCTION EARNED
TOTAL POINTS	EMPLOYEE plus SPOUSE
EARNED	
Non-Participant	Pays full base rate contribution
0-1 Point	May choose "Opt. 1", "Opt. 2", or "Opt. 3"; Pays full base
	rate contribution
2-3 Points	2% Discount
4-5 Points	4% Discount
6-7 Points	6% Discount
8-9 Points	8% Discount
10 Points	10% Discount

<sup>\*</sup>Must work 25 or more hours to be eligible for insurance and contractual hours are set as of November 1 each year for purposes of benefit eligibility and premium contribution.

#### **Board Contribution Rate**

The Board will contribute 82% of the premium for the base plan, which is Option 2. The same dollar amount contributed to the base plan will also be contributed to the other plans.

For Option 3 (High Deductible Plan), if the Board's premium contribution for the base plan exceeds the monthly premium, the excess money will be contributed to the employee's pre-opened Health Savings Account (HSA).

#### D. Dental

For members eligible for Health Insurance, the Employer will provide Dental Insurance. Members shall contribute 10% for the base plan for Dental Insurance which is the plan with a \$750 payout. The Employer will contribute the same dollar amount that is contributed to the base plan to the other Dental plans beginning 01/01/2022.

#### E. Vision

The Employer will provide for each unit member eligible for insurance and his/her family (if applicable) a Vision Insurance plan which equals or exceeds the following specifications:

- 1. Deductibles As established by the Major Medical policy carrier
- 2. Examinations Once every twelve (12) months
- 3. Lenses Once every twelve (12) months
- 4. Frames Once every twenty-four (24) months

The cost of Vision Insurance is included in Major Medical premiums.

- F. Insurance premium co-pay(s) will be deducted twice a month.
- G. In the event that the District employs spouses who are both eligible for insurance coverage, one spouse must make the employee contribution for family coverage or both employees may make the contribution for single coverage. Each employee is only eligible to be covered by a maximum of one medical insurance policy through the District.
- H. The employee shall notify the Employer immediately of the ineligibility of his/her spouse or last dependent.
- I. If an employee's spouse has access to other medical coverage, either through his/her employer or a retirement system, the spouse is not eligible for any coverage under Fremont City Schools' health plan.
- J. School calendar employees during the summer break shall present a check or money order to the Classified Payroll/Benefits Coordinator in the Administration Office to cover the premium due for the plan in which they are enrolled. A memo will be attached with the last check of the school year notifying employees of the due dates and premium amount
- K. Employees will be able to enroll in the District's insurance plans in November of each year for coverage beginning the following January 1.
- L. The Employer has the discretion to select the insurance carrier, third party administrator and/or type of insurance (e.g. traditional or self-insured). The coverage provided will be substantially similar to, or better than, the coverage in effect immediately prior to the change.

#### 16.4 Group Life Insurance

A. All employees working 25 hours or more per week are eligible for life insurance (after their initial probationary period).

- B. The Employer shall pay the premium toward a \$30,000 term life insurance policy for the benefit of all eligible employees.
- C. Employees will be allowed to pay life insurance premiums after retirement if the insurance carrier policy so permits.
- D. This benefit will be offered subject to carrier approval of individual employees participating, at no cost to the employee. However, in the event that the Employer has problems obtaining said insurance for employees because of age, the Employer will notify the Local President and will jointly solicit insurance carriers to obtain coverage.

#### 16.5 Retirement Benefits

- A. Any employee who retires and has five (5) or more years of current consecutive service with the District shall be paid forty (40) days of accrued but unused sick leave credit.
- B. Any employee who retires and has accrued unused sick leave in excess of seventy (70) days shall be paid one-half of the days in excess of the seventy (70), not to exceed twenty (20) days. These days are in addition to the forty (40) days as authorized pursuant to Section A above.
- C. Any employee (who is eligible for retirement) with seventeen (17) or more years of consecutive service with the Fremont City Schools shall receive an additional severance of twenty (20) days pay. To be eligible for this bonus the employee must have in excess of one hundred fifty (150) days of accrued and unused sick leave. These days are in addition to those authorized pursuant to Sections A and B above.
- D. The provisions of this Article shall apply only upon retirement into the School Employees Retirement System. These payments shall be calculated at the employee's regular rate of pay in effect at the time of his/her retirement.
- E. Such payments eliminate all sick leave credit accrued by the employee and shall be made only once.
- F. Such payments shall be made to the employee no later than sixty (60) calendar days of his/her effective date of retirement with the School Employees Retirement System and the employee is in compliance with all conditions of retirement.

#### 16.6 Maintenance Employee Uniforms

The Employer will provide uniforms to maintenance employees, under the same terms and conditions as fleet mechanics. Maintenance employees will be required to wear the uniforms and will be provided the opportunity to have input into the selection process for the uniforms.

# 16.7 <u>Criminal Background Checks</u>

The Board and the employee will share (50/50) the cost of any background check(s) after the employee's hire required by the State.

#### **ARTICLE 17 - COMPENSATION**

#### 17.1 Pay Schedule

- A. Employees shall advance one step on their respective schedule on July 1<sup>st</sup> of each year the employee is eligible for a new step.
- B. A full-time employee's placement on the salary schedule shall equal or exceed the employee's SERS credit that has been earned in the District.
- C. A one-time lump sum payment, not on the base, of 1.5% of an employee's contracted annual pay (not including any overtime) will be paid for the 2021-2022 school year. A one-time lump sum payment, not on the base, of 1.5% of an employee's contracted annual pay (not including any overtime) will be paid for the 2022-2023 school year. The lump sum payment for 2021-2022 will be paid in the second pay period of July 2021. The lump sum payment for 2022-2023 will be paid in the second pay period of July 2022. The base salary for each Classification will be increased 8.55% for the 2023-2024 school year.

# 17.2 Placement on Pay Schedule

- A. A newly hired employee without experience will be placed on step (1) of the salary schedule.
- B. A newly hired employee with experience must verify that experience as it relates to the job classification in which he/she is employed.
  - 1. All employees must verify their previous experience during the 90 workday probationary period. Substituting for Fremont City Schools in the same classification into which an employee is hired will be counted for placement on the salary schedule, up to a maximum of five (5) years, where each year consists of at least 120 days. Once the employee has completed his/her probationary period, no adjustments will be made to the salary schedule.
- C. New employees must complete their initial probationary period by July 1<sup>st</sup> in order to advance one (1) step on the pay schedule.

#### 17.3 <u>Longevity Step</u>

A. The longevity salary increment will be implemented upon completion of 15, 20, and 25 years of service with the District as of the latest anniversary date of hire as a regular employee. Only years worked for the District are to be counted in determining eligibility for longevity.

B. An employee must complete 120 days of service for the District in a twelve month period between anniversary dates to receive one (1) year of credit. A person employed for four (4) hours or less per day shall receive one (1) year of credit for two (2) years of service for longevity purposes.

#### 17.4 Overtime

- A. Employees will be offered overtime work in the building in which they are working, when the Employer determines that overtime is necessary.
- B. Overtime work will be distributed by the Employer on a rotation basis within the building, among those qualified to do the work, beginning with the employee with the greatest length of service. If there is no voluntary acceptance of the offered overtime, it shall be assigned in rotation. In any emergency, the supervisor has authority to assign the necessary overtime work.
- C. Permission to work overtime must be obtained in advance from the Employer.
- D. All overtime must be reported on the employee's time card and approved by the immediate supervisor before payment for overtime may be made.
- E. All hours worked or in active pay status in excess of 8 hours per day or 40 hours per week will be paid at one and one-half (1-1/2) the employee's hourly rate and at two (2) times the hourly rate for Sundays and holidays as defined in this Agreement.
- F. It is not the policy of the Employer to require an employee who works overtime to take time off to offset or avoid such overtime.

#### 17.5 Minimum Pay For Off-Duty Call-In

- A. Maintenance, Custodial, Mechanic, and Fleet Maintenance employees will receive a minimum of two (2) hours' pay at the regular rate of pay for off-duty call-in when called back by the Employer or law enforcement personnel, unless the supervisor approves additional time.
- B. Employees who are scheduled to work outside their normal workday will receive one (1) hour's pay at the regular rate, unless the supervisor approves additional time. This does not pertain to time worked at the beginning or end of the employee's regular workday. The intent of this provision is to compensate the employee who is asked to give up time on weekends, holidays or evenings.
- C. Employees must verify their time in and out with their supervisor.

# 17.6 Paycheck

A. All employees are paid by check biweekly. Payroll checks are distributed every other Friday. All employees shall be required to have their paychecks direct deposited into an account of their choosing. The payroll dates will be explained to

each employee by his/her immediate supervisor at time of employment. When payday falls on a holiday, paychecks will be direct deposited on the last day that the District Office is open preceding the holiday.

- B. Employees will be notified of their accumulated sick leave, personal days, and vacation each month. The amount of accumulated sick leave, personal days, and vacation shall be listed on the paycheck stub.
- C. In the event there is a payroll error or an employee loses his/her paycheck, the employee should individually contact the Classified Payroll Benefits Coordinator or the Treasurer immediately in order that the error can be resolved.

# 17.7 **Building Usage**

District Rental Guidelines shall be followed regarding all building usage.

#### 17.8 <u>Maintenance Certifications</u>

Any Maintenance personnel who hold a certification pertaining to his/her job that is preapproved by the Superintendent will be paid an annual stipend of \$500. Employees with existing certifications (as of June 30, 2018) may be approved by the Superintendent for the stipend.

#### 17.9 Associate's Degree

Any member who holds an Associate's degree in an area pertaining to his/her job that is pre-approved by the Superintendent will be paid an annual stipend of \$500. Members with an existing Associate's degree (as of June 30, 2018) may be approved by the Superintendent for the stipend.

## ARTICLE 18 - IN-SERVICE TRAINING, MEETINGS AND WORKSHOPS

#### 18.1 Meetings-Workshops-Reimbursement

- A. Employees are encouraged to attend meetings that contribute to the improvement of their jobs.
- B. Study sessions and workshops shall be classified as follows:
  - 1. Local meetings within the State
  - 2. National meetings outside the State
  - 3. Other (not sponsored by professional organization)
    - a. University Workshops
    - b. Observations
    - c. Seminars

# C. Eligibility for Attendance:

- 1. Eligibility for attendance is based on the following criteria:
  - a. Membership in the organization sponsoring the meeting is desired.
  - b. Meetings should be related to employee's current area of employment.
  - c. If more than one employee is interested in the same meeting, approval shall be based upon rotation and administrative recommendations.
  - d. Attendance at these meetings should be for job-related improvement and not as a reward for service.
  - e. Any employee may make application for a local trip any year.
  - f. Employees may apply for a national trip every three (3) years.

# 2. Approval shall be for the following:

- a. Trips costing \$200 and under may be awarded by the building principal/immediate supervisor providing sufficient funds are available in the appropriate account. Trips exceeding \$200, but up to \$300, must be approved by the Superintendent after initial approval by the building principal/immediate supervisor certifying that sufficient funds in the appropriate budget account exist.
- b. Conferences exceeding \$300 must be referred to the Board for approval with appropriate certification by the building administrator/immediate supervisor and Superintendent that sufficient funds exist in the appropriate budget account. Such application shall be in the hands of the Superintendent one week prior to the regular Board meeting to allow sufficient time for action thereon.
- c. Application for professional leave shall be delivered to the Superintendent at least one week prior to the regular Board meeting to allow sufficient time for action.
- d. The building principal/department supervisor shall indicate initial approval for both types of trips indicated above.

## 3. Reimbursement

- a. It is the Board's desire to reimburse for approved trips as fully as possible. However, the following shall be the upper limits for each category and these are not transferable.
  - 1. Travel maximum up to \$180.00 per trip. Mileage not to exceed the IRS rate.

- 2. Registration fee up to \$90.00 per trip\*
- 3. Lodging expenses up to \$70.00 per night for a maximum of four nights.
- 4. Meals, including banquet dinners, up to \$25.00 per day for a maximum of five days.
- \* A higher registration fee that includes a banquet meal may exceed the allowance for registration by the cost of the meal. The daily food allowance will be reduced by a similar amount.
- b. Itemized bills must be submitted for reimbursement on appropriate forms. Actual receipts must be submitted to the Treasurer prior to reimbursement.
- c. Reimbursement for the use of private cars for school business shall be at the IRS rate.
- 4. Representatives of the Ohio Association of Public School Employees may participate in Local, District, State and National Ohio Association of Public School Employees Association Conventions, workshops, conferences and study sessions. There will be no pay deductions or charge-off against sick leave or personal business for attendance at these activities.
- 5. Should Board rates for the certificated bargaining unit increase, OAPSE rates will increase commensurately.

#### 18.2 In-Service Training

- A. An in-service training program is essential for efficient operation. There are several media used in the training of personnel. Some of these are as follows:
  - 1. Demonstrations by individual employees.
  - 2. Training schools outside of the District.
  - 3. Demonstrations by sales representatives. However, these are to be done in accordance with existing policies covering the admittance of salesmen to the schools.
  - 4. All training programs are to be of a practical nature.
  - 5. Only competent resource people are to be used.
  - 6. Whenever possible the training programs will be held during the employees' working hours. All programs and in-service held beyond employees' regular work hours shall be voluntary.
  - 7. Objectives or goals are to be established prior to training programs.
- 18.3 At various times, conferences and training sessions will be provided. These will be planned for the purpose of helping employees to improve their skills.

#### **ARTICLE 19 - CAFETERIA**

- 19.1 Whenever cafeteria facilities are to be utilized for food preparation, or food distribution, a cafeteria employee shall be in the kitchen.
- 19.2 When the Employer determines that additional hours are needed on a temporary basis in a kitchen, or determines that hours need to be filled because of the absence of an employee, those additional hours will be offered to employees currently working in that kitchen on a rotation basis.
  - A. The offer rotation will be as follows:
    - 1. The hours that need to be filled shall always be offered to the most senior employee in the kitchen first. The employee may accept the hours that need to be filled in their entirety. If at any time after accepting the additional hours, the accepting employee is off work for any approved reason, the employee will resume this temporary position upon his/her return to work.
    - 2. In lieu of accepting the hours that need to be filled in their entirety, the accepting employee may accept to work part of the offered hours (e.g., 3 out of 5 days), and the remaining hours will then be offered to the next most senior employee in that kitchen, until said hours are filled. If no employee in that kitchen accepts the additional hours, those hours may be filled by a substitute.
    - 3. Probationary employees may be included in the rotation offering prior to filling the hours with a substitute.
  - B. Cafeteria employees holding two positions in the District will not be participants in the rotation system if the extra hours will put them into a time and one-half situation.
- 19.3 Anyone required to use a steamer shall receive adequate training.
- 19.4 Anytime a kitchen staff is substituting for a Cafeteria Manager, the employee will be paid the same rate as the Cafeteria Manager pay scale.
- 19.5 Effective July 1, 2021, anyone becoming a Cafeteria Manager must have and maintain a Servsafe level 2 license.

## **ARTICLE 20 - CUSTODIANS**

#### 20.1 All Breaks

During all breaks, all daytime and nighttime custodians will work 6:00 a.m. – 2:30 p.m. The work schedule includes a half-hour unpaid lunch period. Coaches, the Athletic Director, or a building principal will have the responsibility to secure any school building after 2:30 p.m. or the end of the day for custodial personnel when custodial personnel are

not needed to work an event or program. If a building has evening activities, work schedules will be adjusted to provide coverage for the evening activities without incurring any overtime. This will be accomplished by assigning on a rotating basis in reverse order of seniority starting with the least senior Custodian, until a sufficient number of Custodians have been assigned to provide sufficient coverage for the activity. District Office custodians will work 4:00 a.m. – 12:30 p.m. The summer work schedule will begin two days after the last student day of school and end two weeks prior to the first student day of school for the Middle and High School. The summer work schedule for Elementary schools will begin two days after the last student day of school and end the day before open house, provided that during the last two weeks of the summer schedule the building principal may adjust the work schedule, if needed, to cover any evening events.

# 20.2 After School Special Events During the School Year

When school facilities are used for a special event outside the normally scheduled work hours of the custodial personnel, a Custodian II or III may be scheduled to clean the affected areas and attend to other custodial needs within the building as determined by the building principal.

#### ARTICLE 21 - ALCOHOL AND DRUG TESTING PROGRAM

- 21.1 The Employer will pay for required drug testing expenses. The Employer shall provide transportation to and from the testing site for post-accident and reasonable suspicion testing. Random drug tests will be conducted at the worksite.
- 21.2 Bus drivers required to be tested will be compensated at their regular hourly rate for time involved in testing.
- 21.3 If a bus driver's test is positive for drugs and/or alcohol (at .02 and above for alcohol), the driver may be referred for an evaluation by a substance abuse professional or may be disciplined up to and including termination. If the driver is referred for an evaluation, he/she must successfully complete any treatment recommendations and pass a drug and alcohol test before the driver will be permitted to return to work. The driver will also be subject to random drug and alcohol tests for one year if permitted to return to duty. The employee shall be afforded his/her available sick leave, and/or medical unpaid leave at his/her request.
- 21.4 The Employer must require any other employee to submit to a controlled substance test if there is reasonable suspicion to believe that the employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol or following a work related accident. If an employee tests positive for drugs or the employee's alcohol test results in a reading of .02 or greater, that employee may be referred for an evaluation by a substance abuse professional or may be disciplined up to and including termination. If the employee is referred for an evaluation, he/she must successfully complete any treatment recommendations and pass a drug and alcohol test before the employee will be permitted to return to work. The employee will also be subject to random drug and alcohol tests for one year if permitted to return to duty. The employee

- shall be afforded his/her available sick leave, and/or medical unpaid leave at his/her request.
- 21.5 Nothing in this Article shall prevent an employee from self-referring using the District's EAP program.
- 21.6 Any disciplinary action may be subject to the grievance procedure.

#### **ARTICLE 22 - CONTRARY TO LAW**

- This Agreement shall supersede, to the extent permitted by O.R.C. 4117.10(A), provisions of O.R.C. which are contrary to the express provisions of this Agreement.
- 22.2 The parties intend, to the fullest extent allowed by law, for this Agreement to supersede and take the place of the Ohio Civil Service laws and rules in all provisions addressed by this Agreement.
- 22.3 If any section(s) of this Agreement is in conflict with federal or state law, except as permitted by O.R.C. 4117.10(A), then that section is null and void while those sections that are not in conflict with federal or state law remain in full force. Any section(s) found to be in conflict with federal or state law, by a court of competent jurisdiction, shall be renegotiated by the parties in compliance with the negotiation procedures of this Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 23 - COMPLETE AGREEMENT**

23.1 The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals on any subject within the scope of bargaining. The understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of the right and opportunity are set forth herein, and the parties agree that this Agreement constitutes the entire contract between them and settles all demands and issues on all matters within the scope of bargaining. The parties further agree that neither party shall be required to bargain upon any issue until the expiration of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE 24 - DURATION

This Agreement shall be in effect from July 1, 2021 until June 30, 2024.

FREMONT CITY SCHOOLS	OHIO ASSOCIATION OF PUBLIC
BOARD OF EDUCATION  By Louis Wine 18-2-23  President Date	By Logarity Date  By Logarity Date
By Sperintendent Date	By Jargaining Team Member Date
By Megan fackhungt 7/31/23 Treasurer Date	By Ellow E Joseph 17-26-23 Bargaining Tean/Member Date
By A. Guscler 18/8/23 Legal Counsel Date	By OAPSE Representative Date

# APPENDIX A

# FREMONT CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Classified Employees Salary Schedule 2021-2022 2022-2023 Effective 7/1/21

Classification	Step 1 1.00	Step 2 1.024	Step 3 1.048	Step 4 1.072	Step 5 1.096	Step 7 1.106	Step 8 1.110	Step 10 1.120	Step 12 1.130	Step 13 1.135	Long. 15 1.144	Long. 20 1.175	Long. 25 1.200
CUSTODIAL/MAINTENANCE STAFF													
A - 29.00 Custodial I	13.95	14.28	14.62	14.95	15.29	15.43	15.48	15.62	15.76	15.83	15.96	16.39	16.74
A - 27.01 Custodial II	17.11	17.52	17.93	18.34	18.75	18.92	18.99	19.16	19.33	19.42	19.57	20.10	20.53
A - 27.02B Custodial III	17.68	18.10	18.53	18.95	19.38	19.55	19.62	19.80	19.98	20.07	20.23	20.77	21.22
A - 27.03 Custodial Foreman	19.13	19.59	20.05	20.51	20.97	21.16	21.23	21.43	21.62	21.71	21.88	22.48	22.96
A - 27.01G Groundskeeper	17.11	17.52	17.93	18.34	18.75	18.92	18.99	19.16	19.33	19.42	19.57	20.10	20.53
A - 30.03 Maintenance NOTE: A twenty-five (\$.25) cent per hour differential will be paid to night shift employees	19.70	20.17	20.65	21.12	21.59	21.79	21.87	22.06	22.26	22.36	22.54	23.15	23.64
TRANSPORTATION STAFF													
A - 23.01 Fleet Mechanic	19.70	20.17	20.65	21.12	21.59	21.79	21.87	22.06	22.26	22.36	22.54	23.15	23.64
A - 23.02 Fleet Maintenance Manager	20.14	20.62	21.11	21.59	22.07	22.27	22.36	22.56	22.76	22.86	23.04	23.66	24.17
A - 23.05 Bus Driver NOTE: The extra trip rate will be \$13.84 for regular bus drivers	18.74	19.19	19.64	20.09	20.54	20.73	20.80	20.99	21.18	21.27	21.44	22.02	22.49
SHIPPING & RECEIVING STAFF													
A - 26.01 Shipping/Receiving Clerk	17.86	18.29	18.72	19.15	19.57	19.75	19.82	20.00	20.18	20.27	20.43	20.99	21.43
A - 26.02 Delivery Clerk	17.19	17.60	18.02	18.43	18.84	19.01	19.08	19.25	19.42	19.51	19.67	20.20	20.63

# FREMONT CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Classified Employees Salary Schedule 2021-2022 2022-2023 Effective 7/1/21

	G <sub>4</sub> 1	G <sub>4</sub> 2	G <sub>4</sub> 2	G4 4	G4 <b>5</b>	G, 5	G <sub>4</sub> 0	Step	Step	Step	Long.	Long.	Long.
Classification	Step 1 1.00	Step 2 1.024	Step 3 1.048	Step 4 1.072	Step 5 1.096	Step 7 1.106	Step 8 1.110	10 1.120	12 1.130	13 1.135	15 1.144	20 1.175	25 1.200
AIDES													
A - 21.00 Paraprofessional Bilingual Aide A - 21.00A Paraprofessional Bilingual	15.50	15.87	16.24	16.62	16.99	17.14	17.21	17.36	17.52	17.59	17.73	18.21	18.60
Aide (College)	16.24	16.63	17.02	17.41	17.80	17.96	18.03	18.19	18.35	18.43	18.58	19.08	19.49
A - 21.23 LPN First Aid Supervisor	16.27	16.66	17.05	17.44	17.83	17.99	18.06	18.22	18.39	18.47	18.61	19.12	19.52
A - 22.20 Student Monitor	13.97	14.31	14.64	14.98	15.31	15.45	15.51	15.65	15.79	15.86	15.98	16.41	16.76
A - 22.21 Paraprofessional Media Aide	14.28	14.62	14.97	15.31	15.65	15.79	15.85	15.99	16.14	16.21	16.34	16.78	17.14
A - 22.22 Paraprofessional Aide	14.13	14.47	14.81	15.15	15.49	15.63	15.68	15.83	15.97	16.04	16.16	16.60	16.96
<u>CAFETERIA STAFF</u>													
LR - 1.02 Cook	13.82	14.15	14.48	14.82	15.15	15.28	15.34	15.48	15.62	15.69	15.81	16.24	16.58
LR - 1.03 Manager (Elementary)	14.80	15.16	15.51	15.87	16.22	16.37	16.43	16.58	16.72	16.80	16.93	17.39	17.76
LR - 1.04 Manager (Secondary)	15.54	15.91	16.29	16.66	17.03	17.19	17.25	17.40	17.56	17.64	17.78	18.26	18.65
ADMINISTRATIVE/CLERICAL OFFICE STAFF													
A - 6.23 Administrative Assistant	16.62	17.02	17.42	17.82	18.22	18.38	18.45	18.61	18.78	18.86	19.01	19.53	19.94
A - 15.01 Secretary	16.27	16.66	17.05	17.44	17.83	17.99	18.06	18.22	18.39	18.47	18.61	19.12	19.52
A - 15.011 Accounting Secretary	16.48	16.88	17.27	17.67	18.06	18.23	18.29	18.46	18.62	18.70	18.85	19.36	19.78
A - 15.02 Office Manager	16.76	17.16	17.56	17.97	18.37	18.54	18.60	18.77	18.94	19.02	19.17	19.69	20.11

# FREMONT CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT

# Classified Employees Salary Schedule 2023-2024 Effective 7/1/23

								Step	Step	Step	Long.	Long.	Long.
	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 7	Step 8	10	12	13	15	20	25
Classification	1.00	1.024	1.048	1.072	1.096	1.106	1.110	1.120	1.130	1.135	1.144	1.175	1.200
CUSTODIAL/MAINTENANCE STAFF													
A - 29.00 Custodial I	15.14	15.51	15.87	16.23	16.60	16.75	16.81	16.96	17.11	17.19	17.32	17.79	18.17
A - 27.01 Custodial II	18.57	19.02	19.46	19.91	20.36	20.54	20.62	20.80	20.99	21.08	21.25	21.82	22.29
A - 27.02B Custodial III	19.19	19.65	20.11	20.57	21.03	21.23	21.30	21.49	21.69	21.78	21.96	22.55	23.03
A - 27.03 Custodial Foreman	20.77	21.26	21.76	22.26	22.76	22.97	23.05	23.26	23.47	23.57	23.76	24.40	24.92
A - 27.01G Groundskeeper	18.57	19.02	19.46	19.91	20.36	20.54	20.62	20.80	20.99	21.08	21.25	21.82	22.29
A - 30.03 Maintenance NOTE: A twenty-five (\$.25) cent per hour differential will be paid to night shift employees	21.38	21.90	22.41	22.92	23.44	23.65	23.74	23.95	24.16	24.27	24.46	25.13	25.66
TRANSPORTATION STAFF													
A - 23.01 Fleet Mechanic	21.38	21.90	22.41	22.92	23.44	23.65	23.74	23.95	24.16	24.27	24.46	25.13	25.66
A - 23.02 Fleet Maintenance Manager	21.86	22.39	22.91	23.44	23.96	24.18	24.27	24.49	24.70	24.81	25.01	25.69	26.23
A - 23.05 Bus Driver NOTE: The extra trip rate will be \$15.00 for regular bus drivers	20.34	20.83	21.32	21.81	22.30	22.50	22.58	22.78	22.99	23.09	23.27	23.90	24.41
SHIPPING & RECEIVING STAFF													
A - 26.01 Shipping/Receiving Clerk	19.39	19.85	20.32	20.78	21.25	21.44	21.52	21.71	21.91	22.00	22.18	22.78	23.26
A - 26.02 Delivery Clerk	18.66	19.11	19.56	20.00	20.45	20.64	20.71	20.90	21.09	21.18	21.35	21.93	22.39

# FREMONT CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT

# Classified Employees Salary Schedule 2023-2024 Effective 7/1/23

Classification	Step 1 1.00	Step 2 1.024	Step 3	Step 4 1.072	Step 5	Step 7	Step 8 1.110	Step 10 1.120	Step 12 1.130	Step 13 1.135	Long. 15 1.144	Long. 20 1.175	Long. 25 1.200
Classification	1.00	1.024	1.040	1.072	1.070	1.100	1.110	1.120	1.130	1.133	1.144	1.173	1.200
AIDES													
A - 21.00 Paraprofessional Bilingual Aide	16.83	17.23	17.63	18.04	18.44	18.61	18.68	18.84	19.01	19.10	19.25	19.77	20.19
A - 21.00A Paraprofessional Bilingual	17.63	18.05	18.47	18.90	19.32	19.50	19.57	19.74	19.92	20.01	20.17	20.71	21.15
Aide (College)													
A - 21.23 LPN First Aid Supervisor	17.66	18.08	18.51	18.93	19.36	19.53	19.60	19.78	19.96	20.05	20.20	20.75	21.19
A - 22.20 Student Monitor	15.16	15.53	15.89	16.26	16.62	16.77	16.83	16.98	17.14	17.21	17.35	17.82	18.20
A - 22.21 Paraprofessional Media Aide	15.50	15.87	16.24	16.62	16.99	17.14	17.21	17.36	17.52	17.59	17.73	18.21	18.60
A - 22.22 Paraprofessional Aide	15.34	15.71	16.07	16.44	16.81	16.96	17.03	17.18	17.33	17.41	17.55	18.02	18.41
CAFETERIA STAFF													
LR - 1.02 Cook	15.00	15.36	15.72	16.08	16.44	16.59	16.65	16.80	16.95	17.03	17.16	17.63	18.00
LR - 1.03 Manager (Elementary)	16.07	16.45	16.84	17.22	17.61	17.77	17.83	17.99	18.15	18.23	18.38	18.88	19.28
LR - 1.04 Manager (Secondary)	16.87	17.27	17.68	18.08	18.49	18.66	18.72	18.89	19.06	19.15	19.30	19.82	20.24
ADMINISTRATIVE/CLERICAL													
OFFICE STAFF													
A - 6.23 Administrative Assistant	18.04	18.47	18.91	19.34	19.77	19.95	20.03	20.21	20.39	20.48	20.64	21.20	21.65
A - 15.01 Secretary	17.66	18.08	18.51	18.93	19.36	19.53	19.60	19.78	19.96	20.05	20.20	20.75	21.19
A - 15.011 Accounting Secretary	17.89	18.32	18.75	19.18	19.61	19.79	19.86	20.04	20.21	20.30	20.47	21.02	21.47
A - 15.02 Office Manager	18.19	18.63	19.07	19.50	19.94	20.12	20.19	20.38	20.56	20.65	20.81	21.38	21.83

# OAPSE GRIEVANCE FORM

Grievant's Name	Work Location	Work Location							
Date of Alleged Violation	Date of Step I Meeting								
Specific Article(s) and Section(s) alle	eged to be violated:								
Complete and specific description of	alleged grievance:								
Relief Sought:									
Signature of Grievant Date	Validation Signature of Supervisor	Date							
Step I written response by Immediate	Supervisor:								
	•								
	T 1' ( G ) 1 ( G )	D.:							
	Immediate Supervisor's Signature	Date							

# <u>Step II – Director of Human Resources and Community Relations/Designee</u>

Signature of Grievant/Union appeal to Step II	Date
Validation Signature of Director of Human Resources and Community Relations/Designee	Date
Step II written response of Director of Human Resources and	Community Relations /Designee:
Step III – FMCS Mediatio	<u>n</u>
Signature of Grievant/Union appeal to Step III	Date
Validation Signature of Director of Human Resources and Community Relations/Designee	Date
<u>Step IV – Binding Arbitrati</u>	<u>on</u>
The Union hereby appeals the grievance to Step IV – Binding	g Arbitration
Signature of Grievant/Union appeal to Step IV	Date
Validation Signature of Director of Human Resources and Community Relations/Designee	Date
NOTE: Attach additional information as needed.	

# CLASSIFIED EMPLOYEES BID SHEET

Job Title and Number:_			<u> </u>
Posting Period:			<u> </u>
Location (where applica	ıble):		<u> </u>
Start Time: Hours Per Day:			<u> </u>
Pay Range:			<u> </u>
Employee Signature	Print Name	Current Classification	If bidding on more than one position, please indicate which position is your preference